## **Statement of Additional Information**

## February 1, 2023 Destra Granahan Small Cap Advantage Fund

A portfolio of Destra Investment Trust

Ticker: Class A - DGASX, Class I - DGISX

This Statement of Additional Information ("SAI") is not a prospectus. This SAI is incorporated by reference in its entirety into the Prospectus, and should be read in conjunction with, the Prospectus dated February 1, 2023 for the Destra Granahan Small Cap Advantage Fund (the "Fund"), a series of the Destra Investment Trust. Copies of the Prospectus may be obtained without charge from the Fund's website at destracapital.com/strategies/literature or by calling 844-9DESTRA (933-7872). The audited financial statements for the Fund's most recent fiscal year appear in the Fund's Annual Report dated September 30,2022. The audited financial statements for the year ended September 30, 2022 are incorporated herein by reference and are available without charge from the Fund's website at destracapital.com/strategies/literature or by calling 844-9DESTRA (933-7872). No other part of the Annual Report is incorporated herein by reference.

# **Table of Contents**

	Page
Fund History	
Investment Restrictions	
Investment Strategies and Risks	
<u>Management</u>	1.
Control Persons and Principal Shareholders	19
Investment Adviser and Sub-Adviser	21
<u>Administrator</u>	2:
Portfolio Transactions	2:
Net Asset Value	2:
<u>Purchases</u>	20
Distribution and Shareholder Servicing Plan	29
Redemptions	29
Tax Matters	30
Frequent Trading	34
Disclosure of Portfolio Holdings	3:
Other Service Providers	30
General Trust Information	30
Appendix A - Proxy Voting Procedure	A-
;	

### **Fund History**

The Fund is a separate investment portfolio of the Destra Investment Trust (the "Trust"), an open-end management investment company organized as a Massachusetts business trust on May 25, 2010. The Fund is diversified and represents shares of beneficial interest in a separate portfolio of securities and other assets, with its own investment objective, policies and strategies. The Fund has retained Destra Capital Advisors LLC ("Destra" or the "Adviser") to serve as its investment adviser. Destra has retained Granahan Investment Management, Inc. ("GIM" or the "Sub-Adviser") to serve as the Fund's investment sub-adviser, responsible for the day-to-day management of the Fund's portfolio of securities.

### **Investment Restrictions**

The investment objective and certain fundamental investment policies of the Fund are described in the Prospectus for the Fund. The fundamental investment policies, together with the investment objective of the Fund and certain other policies specifically identified in the Prospectus, cannot be changed without approval by holders of a "majority of the Fund's outstanding voting shares." As defined in the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended (the "1940 Act"), this means the vote of (i) 67% or more of the Fund's shares present at a meeting, if the holders of more than 50% of the Fund's shares are present or represented by proxy, or (ii) more than 50% of the Fund's shares, whichever is less. Certain matters under the 1940 Act, which must be submitted to a vote of the holders of the outstanding voting securities of a series, shall not be deemed to have been effectively acted upon unless approved by the holders of a majority of the outstanding voting shares of each series affected by such matter. The Fund, as a fundamental policy, may not, without the approval of the holders of a majority of the Fund's outstanding voting shares:

- (1) Purchase or sell real estate or real estate limited partnership interests; provided, however, that the Fund may invest in securities secured by real estate or interests therein or issued by companies that invest in real estate or interests therein when consistent with the other policies and limitations described in the Prospectus.
- (2) Invest in physical commodities unless acquired as a result of ownership of securities or other instruments (but this shall not prevent the Fund from purchasing or selling non-U.S. currency, options, futures contracts, options on futures contracts, forward contracts, swaps, caps, floors, collars, securities on a forward-commitment or delayed-delivery basis, and other similar financial instruments).
- (3) Engage in the business of underwriting securities issued by others, except to the extent that, in connection with the disposition of securities, the Fund may be deemed an underwriter under federal securities law.
- (4) Lend any security or make any other loan except (i) as otherwise permitted under the 1940 Act, (ii) pursuant to a rule, order or interpretation issued by the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC") or its staff, (iii) through the purchase of a portion of an issue of debt securities in accordance with the Fund's investment objective, policies and limitations, or (iv) by engaging in repurchase agreements with respect to portfolio securities.
- (5) Issue any senior security except as otherwise permitted (i) under the 1940 Act or (ii) pursuant to a rule, order or interpretation issued by the SEC or its staff.
- (6) Borrow money, except as otherwise permitted under the 1940 Act or pursuant to a rule, order or interpretation issued by the SEC or its staff, including (i) as a temporary measure, (ii) by entering into reverse repurchase agreements, and (iii) by lending portfolio securities as collateral. For purposes of this investment limitation, the purchase or sale of options, futures contracts, options on futures contracts, forward contracts, swaps, caps, floors, collars and other similar financial instruments shall not constitute borrowing.
- (7) Invest 25% or more of its total assets in the securities of companies primarily engaged in any one industry, provided that: (i) this limitation does not apply to obligations issued or guaranteed by the U.S. government, its agencies and instrumentalities, and (ii) tax-exempt securities issued by municipalities and their agencies and authorities are not deemed to be industries.

The above percentage limits are based upon asset values at the time of the applicable transaction; accordingly, a subsequent change in asset values will not affect a transaction that was in compliance with the investment restrictions at the time such transaction was effected.

For purposes of applying investment restriction (5) above, under the 1940 Act as currently in effect, the Fund is not permitted to issue senior securities, except that the Fund may borrow from any bank if immediately after such borrowing the value of the Fund's total assets is at least 300% of the principal amount of all of the Fund's borrowings (*i.e.*, the principal amount of the borrowings may not exceed 331/3% of the Fund's total assets). In the event that such asset coverage shall at any time fall below 300%, the Fund shall, within three days thereafter (not including Sundays and holidays), reduce the amount of its borrowings to an extent that the asset coverage of such borrowings shall be at least 300%. The fundamental investment limitations set forth above limit the Fund's ability to engage in certain investment practices and purchase securities or other instruments to the extent permitted by, or consistent with, applicable law. As such, these limitations will change as the statutes, rules, regulations or orders (or, if applicable, interpretations) change, and no shareholder vote will be required or sought. Rule 18f-4 under the 1940 Act, which went into effect on August 19, 2022, eliminated the asset segregation framework previously used by funds to comply with Section 18 of the 1940 Act with respect to funds' use of derivatives. Moreover, Rule 18f-4 imposes limits on the amount of derivatives a fund can enter into, treats derivatives as senior securities so that a failure to comply with the limits would result in a statutory violation and requires funds whose use of derivatives is more than a limited specified exposure to establish and maintain a comprehensive derivatives risk management program and appoint a derivatives user (as defined in Rule 18f-4), and the Trust intends to rely on this limited derivatives user exception by maintaining a maximum derivatives exposure of 10% of its net assets. Reliance on the limited derivatives user exception does not absolve the Fund of its responsibility to manage

The following non-fundamental investment restriction applies to the Fund (except where noted otherwise) and may be changed with respect to the Fund by a vote of a majority of the Board of Trustees:

The Fund may not invest more than 15% of its net assets in illiquid investments (taken at market value), including time deposits and repurchase agreements that mature in more than seven days.

Additionally, the Fund has adopted a non-fundamental investment policy pursuant to Rule 35d-1 under the 1940 Act whereby the Fund, under normal market conditions, invests at least 80% of its net assets (plus the amount of any borrowings for investment purposes) in securities of issuers with small market capitalization (the "80% Policy"). The Fund considers issuers with small market capitalization to be those that, at the time of the Fund's investment, have a similar market capitalization to those companies included in the Russell 2000<sup>®</sup> Growth Index. Companies whose capitalization no longer meets this definition after purchase may continue to be considered small capitalization companies for purposes of the 80% Policy. The Fund may satisfy its 80% Policy by investing in securities of other open-end or closed-end investment companies, including exchange-traded funds ("ETFs") that invest primarily in securities of the types in which the Fund may invest directly. Shareholders will be notified of any material change to the 80% Policy at least 60 days in advance of the change and this SAI and the Prospectus will be supplemented.

The Fund's investments will be limited in order to allow the Fund to qualify as a "regulated investment company" for purposes of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"). To qualify, among other requirements, the Fund will limit its investments so that, at the close of each quarter of the taxable year, at least 50% of the market value of the Fund's assets is represented by cash, securities of other regulated investment companies, U.S. government securities and other securities of any two or more issuers that the Fund controls and that are determined to be engaged in the same or similar trades or businesses or related trades or businesses or in the securities of one or more qualified publicly traded partnerships (i.e., partnerships that are traded on an established securities market or tradable on a secondary market, other than partnerships that derive 90% of their income from interest, dividends, capital gains, and other traditionally permitted mutual fund income).

Non-U.S. government securities (unlike U.S. government securities) are not exempt from the diversification requirements of the Code, and the securities of each non-U.S. government issuer are considered to be obligations of a single issuer. These tax-related limitations may be changed by the Board of Trustees of the Fund to the extent necessary to comply with changes to the federal tax requirements. The Fund is classified as "diversified" under the 1940 Act.

All percentage limitations on investments will apply at the time of the making of an investment and shall not be considered violated unless an excess or deficiency occurs or exists immediately after and as a result of such investment. Except for the investment restrictions listed above as fundamental or to the extent designated as such in the Prospectus with respect to the Fund, the other investment policies described in this SAI or in the Prospectus are not fundamental and may be changed by approval of the Board of Trustees.

### **Investment Strategies and Risks**

In addition to the discussion of investment strategies and risks that appears in the Prospectus, the Fund may (except where indicated otherwise) also implement the following strategies.

### 144A Securities

The Fund may purchase securities that can be offered and sold only to "qualified institutional buyers" under Rule 144A under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act"). The Board has determined to treat as liquid Rule 144A securities that are either freely tradable in their primary markets offshore or have been determined to be liquid in accordance with the policies and procedures adopted by the Board. The Board has adopted guidelines and delegated to the Sub-Adviser the daily function of determining and monitoring liquidity of 144A securities. The Board, however, will retain sufficient oversight and will ultimately be responsible for the determinations. Since it is not possible to predict with assurance exactly how the market for securities sold and offered under Rule 144A will continue to develop, the Board will carefully monitor the Fund's investments in these securities. This investment practice could have the effect of increasing the level of illiquidity in the Fund to the extent that qualified institutional buyers become for a time uninterested in purchasing these securities.

## Cash Management

A portion of the Fund's assets may be invested in certain types of instruments with remaining maturities of 397 days or less for liquidity purposes. Such instruments would consist of: (i) obligations of the U.S. government, its agencies, instrumentalities, authorities or political subdivisions ("U.S. Government Securities"); (ii) other fixed-income securities rated Aa or higher by Moody's or AA or higher by S&P or, if unrated, of comparable quality in the opinion of the Sub-Adviser; (iii) commercial paper; (iv) bank obligations, including negotiable certificates of deposit, time deposits and bankers' acceptances; and (v) repurchase agreements. At the time the Fund invests in commercial paper, bank obligations or repurchase agreements, the issuer or the issuer's parent must have outstanding debt rated Aa or higher by Moody's or AA or higher by S&P or outstanding commercial paper, bank obligations or other short-term obligations rated Prime-1 by Moody's or A-1 by S&P; or, if no such ratings are available, the instrument must be of comparable quality in the opinion of the Sub-Adviser.

## **Commercial Paper**

Commercial paper purchasable by the Fund includes "Section 4(a)(2) paper," a term that includes debt obligations issued in reliance on the "private placement" exemption from registration afforded by Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act. Section 4(a)(2) paper is restricted as to disposition under the federal securities laws and is frequently sold (and resold) to institutional investors such as the Fund through or with the assistance of investment dealers who make a market in the Section 4(a)(2) paper, thereby providing liquidity. Certain transactions in Section 4(a)(2) paper may qualify for the registration exemption provided in Rule 144A under the Securities Act. The Fund can purchase commercial paper rated (at the time of purchase) 'A-1' by S&P or 'Prime-1' by Moody's or, when deemed advisable by the Sub-Adviser, "high quality" issues rated 'A-2,' 'Prime-2' or 'F-2' by S&P, Moody's or Fitch, respectively.

#### Convertible Securities

A convertible security is a bond, debenture, note, preferred stock or other security that may be converted into or exchanged for a prescribed amount of common stock or other equity security of the same or a different issuer within a particular period of time at a specified price or formula. A convertible security entitles the holder to receive interest paid or accrued on debt or the dividend paid on preferred stock until the convertible security matures or is redeemed, converted or exchanged. Before conversion, convertible securities have characteristics similar to nonconvertible income securities in that they ordinarily provide a stable stream of income with generally higher yields than those of common stocks of the same or similar issuers, but lower yields than comparable nonconvertible securities. The value of a convertible security is influenced by changes in interest rates, with investment value declining as interest rates increase and increasing as interest rates decline. The credit standing of the issuer and other factors also may have an effect on the convertible security's investment value. Convertible securities rank senior to common stock in a corporation's capital structure but are usually subordinated to comparable nonconvertible securities. Convertible securities may be subject to redemption at the option of the issuer at a price established in the convertible security's governing instrument.

The characteristics of convertible securities make them potentially attractive investments for an investment company seeking a high total return from capital appreciation and investment income. These characteristics include the potential for capital appreciation as the value of the underlying common stock increases, the relatively high yield received from dividend or interest payments as compared to common stock dividends and decreased risks of decline in value relative to the underlying common stock due to their fixed income nature. As a result of the conversion feature, however, the interest rate or dividend preference on a convertible security is generally less than would be the case if the securities were issued in nonconvertible form.

In analyzing convertible securities, the Sub-Adviser will consider both the yield on the convertible security relative to its credit quality and the potential capital appreciation that is offered by the underlying common stock, among other things.

Convertible securities are issued and traded in a number of securities markets. Even in cases where a substantial portion of the convertible securities held by the Fund are denominated in U.S. dollars, the underlying equity securities may be quoted in the currency of the country where the issuer is domiciled. As a result, fluctuations in the exchange rate between the currency in which the debt security is denominated and the currency in which the share price is quoted will affect the value of the convertible security. With respect to convertible securities denominated in a currency different from that of the underlying equity securities, the conversion price may be based on a fixed exchange rate established at the time the security is issued, which may increase the effects of currency risk. As described below, the Fund is authorized to enter into non-U.S. currency hedging transactions in which it may seek to reduce the effect of exchange rate fluctuations.

Apart from currency considerations, the value of convertible securities is influenced by both the yield on nonconvertible securities of comparable issuers and by the value of the underlying common stock. The value of a convertible security viewed without regard to its conversion feature (*i.e.*, strictly on the basis of its yield) is sometimes referred to as its "investment value." To the extent interest rates change, the investment value of the convertible security typically will fluctuate. At the same time, however, the value of the convertible security will be influenced by its "conversion value," which is the market value of the underlying common stock that would be obtained if the convertible security were converted. Conversion value fluctuates directly with the price of the underlying common stock. If the conversion value of a convertible security is substantially below its investment value, the price of the conversion value of a convertible security increases to a point that approximates or exceeds its investment value, the price of the convertible security will be influenced principally by its conversion value. A convertible security will sell at a premium over the conversion value to the extent investors place value on the right to acquire the underlying common stock while holding a fixed income security. The yield and conversion premium of convertible securities issued in Japan and the Euromarket are frequently determined at levels that cause the conversion value to affect their market value more than the securities' investment value.

Holders of convertible securities generally have a claim on the assets of the issuer prior to the claim of the common stockholders but it may be subordinated to other debt securities of the same issuer. A convertible security may be subject to redemption at the option of the issuer at a price established in a charter provision, indenture or other governing instrument pursuant to which the convertible security was issued. If a convertible security held by the Fund is called for redemption, the Fund will be required to redeem the security, convert it into the underlying common stock or sell it to a third party. Certain convertible debt securities may provide a put option to the holder, which entitles the holder to cause the security to be redeemed by the issuer at a premium over the stated principal amount of the debt security under certain circumstances.

### Depositary Receipts (ADRs, EDRs and GDRs)

The Fund may invest in the securities of non-U.S. issuers in the form of depositary receipts or other securities convertible into securities of non-U.S. issuers. Depositary receipts may not necessarily be denominated in the same currency as the underlying securities into which they may be converted. The Fund may invest in both sponsored and unsponsored American Depositary Receipts ("ADRs"), European Depositary Receipts ("EDRs"), Global Depositary Receipts ("GDRs") and other similar global instruments. ADRs typically are issued by an American bank or trust company and evidence ownership of underlying securities issued by a non-U.S. corporation. EDRs, which are sometimes referred to as Continental Depositary Receipts, are receipts issued in Europe, typically by non-U.S. banks and trust companies, that evidence ownership of either foreign or domestic underlying securities. GDRs are depositary receipts structured like global debt issues to facilitate trading on an international basis. Unsponsored ADR, EDR and GDR programs are organized independently and without the cooperation of the issuer of the underlying securities. As a result, available information concerning the issuer may not be as current as for sponsored ADRs, EDRs and GDRs, and the prices of unsponsored ADRs, EDRs and GDRs may be more volatile than if such instruments were sponsored by the issuer. Depositary Receipts are generally subject to the same risks as the non-U.S. securities that they evidence or into which they may be converted. Investments in ADRs, EDRs and GDRs present additional investment considerations as described under "Non-U.S. Investments."

#### **Equity Securities**

Equity securities include common stocks and other securities with equity characteristics. Common stocks represent units of ownership in a company and typically have voting rights and earn dividends. Dividends on common stocks are not fixed but are declared at the discretion of a company's board. Equity securities may also include equity securities of investment companies and exchange-traded funds.

While investing in stocks allows shareholders to participate in the benefits of owning a company, such shareholders must accept the risks of ownership. Unlike bondholders, who have preference to a company's earnings and cash flow, preferred stockholders, followed by common stockholders in order of priority, are entitled only to the residual amount after a company meets its other obligations. For this reason, the value of a company's stock will usually react more strongly to actual or perceived changes in the company's financial condition or prospects than its debt obligations. Stockholders of a company that fares poorly can lose money.

Stock markets tend to move in cycles with short or extended periods of rising and falling stock prices. The value of a company's stock may fall because of:

- Factors that directly relate to that company, such as decisions made by its management or lower demand for the company's products or services;
- Factors affecting an entire industry, such as increases in production costs; and
- Changes in financial market conditions that are relatively unrelated to the company or its industry, such as changes in interest rates, currency exchange rates or inflation rates.

The Fund may invest in securities of issuers with small or medium market capitalizations, which may involve greater risk and price volatility than that customarily associated with investments in larger, more established companies. This increased risk may be due to the greater business risks of their small or medium size, limited markets and financial resources, narrow product lines and frequent lack of management depth. The securities of small and medium capitalization companies are often traded in the over-the-counter ("OTC") market, and might not be traded in volumes typical of securities traded on a national securities exchange. Thus, the securities of small and medium capitalization companies are likely to be less liquid and subject to more abrupt or erratic market movements than securities of larger, more established companies.

### **Illiquid or Restricted Investments**

Pursuant to Rule 22e-4 under the 1940 Act (the "Liquidity Rule"), the Fund may invest up to 15% of its net assets in illiquid investments. An illiquid investment, as defined in the Liquidity Rule, is an investment that the Fund reasonably expects cannot be sold or disposed of in current market conditions within 7 calendar days or less without the sale or disposition significantly changing the market value of the investment. Illiquid investments may trade at a discount from comparable, more liquid investments. Investment of the Fund's assets in illiquid investments may restrict the ability of the Fund to dispose of its investments in a timely fashion and for a fair price as well as its ability to take advantage of market opportunities. The risks associated with illiquidity will be particularly acute where the Fund's operations require cash, such as when the Fund redeems shares or pays dividends, and could result in the Fund borrowing to meet short-term cash requirements or incurring capital losses on the sale of illiquid investments.

The Fund may invest in securities that are not registered under the Securities Act ("restricted securities"). Restricted securities may be sold in private placement transactions between issuers and their purchasers and may be neither listed on an exchange nor traded in other established markets. In many cases, privately placed securities may not be freely transferable under the laws of the applicable jurisdiction or due to contractual restrictions on resale. As a result of the absence of a public trading market, privately placed securities may be less liquid and more difficult to value than publicly traded securities. To the extent that privately placed securities may be resold in privately negotiated transactions, the prices realized from the sales, due to illiquidity, could be less than those originally paid by the Fund or less than their fair market value. In addition, issuers whose securities are not publicly traded may not be subject to the disclosure and other investor protection requirements that may be applicable if their securities were publicly traded. If any privately placed securities held by the Fund are required to be registered under the securities laws of one or more jurisdictions before being resold, the Fund may be required to bear the expenses of registration. Certain of the Fund's investments in private placements may consist of direct investments and may include investments in smaller, less seasoned issuers, which may involve greater risks. These issuers may have limited product lines, markets or financial resources, or they may be dependent on a limited management group. In making investments in such securities, the Fund may obtain access to material nonpublic information, which may restrict the Fund's ability to conduct portfolio transactions in such securities.

Some of these securities are new and complex and trade only among institutions, and the markets for these securities are still developing and may not function as efficiently as established markets. Owning a large percentage of restricted or illiquid investments could hamper the Fund's ability to raise cash to meet redemptions. Also, because there may not be an established market price for these investments, the Fund may have to estimate their value, which means that their valuation (and, to a much smaller extent, the valuation of the Fund) may have a subjective element. Transactions in restricted or illiquid investments may entail registration expense and other transaction costs that are higher than those for transactions in unrestricted or liquid investments. Where registration is required for restricted or illiquid investments a considerable time period may elapse between the time the Fund decides to sell the security and the time it is actually permitted to sell the security under an effective registration statement. If during such period, adverse market conditions were to develop, the Fund might obtain less favorable pricing terms than when it decided to sell the security.

The Trust has implemented a liquidity risk management program and related procedures pursuant to the Liquidity Rule. If the limitation on illiquid investments is exceeded, other than by a change in market values, the condition will be reported to the Board and, when required, to the SEC.

### **Inflation Risk**

Like all mutual funds, the Fund is subject to inflation risk. Inflation risk is the risk that the present value of assets or income from investments will be less in the future as inflation decreases the value of money. As inflation increases, the present value of the Fund's assets can decline as can the value of the Fund's distributions.

### **Investment Companies**

The Fund may, subject to applicable law, invest in other investment companies, including money market funds and ETFs, which are typically open-end funds or unit investment trusts listed on a stock exchange. In accordance with the 1940 Act, the Fund may not own more than 3% of the total outstanding voting stock of any investment company.

As with other investments, investments in other investment companies are subject to market and selection risk. In addition, if the Fund acquires shares in investment companies, including affiliated investment companies, shareholders would bear both their proportionate share of expenses in the Fund (including management and advisory fees) and, indirectly, the expenses of such investment companies (including management and advisory fees). Investments by the Fund in wholly owned investment entities created under the laws of certain countries will not be deemed an investment in other investment companies. Certain ETFs or closed-end funds traded on exchanges may be thinly traded and experience large spreads between the "ask" price quoted by a seller and the "bid" price offered by a buyer.

In October 2020, the SEC adopted certain regulatory changes and took other actions related to the ability of an investment company to invest in another investment company. These changes include, among other things, amendments to Rule 12d1-1, the rescission of Rule 12d1-2, the adoption of Rule 12d1-4, and the rescission of certain exemptive relief issued by the SEC permitting such investments in excess of statutory limits. These regulatory changes may adversely impact the Fund's investment strategies and operations.

Restrictions on Certain Investments. A number of publicly traded closed-end investment companies have been organized to facilitate indirect non-U.S. investment in developing countries, and certain of such countries, such as Thailand, South Korea, Chile and Brazil, have specifically authorized such funds. There also are investment opportunities in certain of such countries in pooled vehicles that resemble open-end investment companies. The 1940 Act restrictions on investments in securities of investment companies may limit opportunities for the Fund to invest indirectly in certain developing countries. Shares of certain investment companies may at times be acquired only at market prices representing premiums to their net asset values.

## LIBOR Risk

Many financial instruments may be tied to the London Interbank Offered Rate ("LIBOR"), Euro Interbank Offered Rate and other similar types of reference rates (each, a "Reference Rate") to determine payment obligations, financing terms, hedging strategies, or investment value. LIBOR is the offered rate for short-term Eurodollar deposits between major international banks. On July 27, 2017, the Chief Executive of the UK Financial Conduct Authority ("FCA") announced a desire to phase out the use of LIBOR by the end of 2021. The FCA and ICE Benchmark Administrator have since announced that most LIBOR settings will no longer be published after December 31. 2021 and a majority of U.S. dollar LIBOR settings will cease publication after June 30, 2023. It is possible that a subset of LIBOR settings will be published after these dates on a "synthetic" basis, but any such publications would be considered nonrepresentative of the underlying market. The U.S. Federal Reserve, based on the recommendations of the New York Federal Reserve's Alternative Reference Rate Committee (comprised of major derivative market participants and their regulators), has begun publishing SOFR that is intended to replace U.S. dollar LIBOR. Proposals for alternative Reference Rates for other currencies have also been announced or have already begun publication. Markets are slowly developing in response to these new Reference Rates. Uncertainty related to the liquidity impact of the change in rates, and how to appropriately adjust these rates at the time of transition, poses risks for the Fund. The effect of any changes to, or discontinuation of, LIBOR on the Fund will depend on, among other things, (1) existing fallback or termination provisions in individual contracts and (2) whether, how, and when industry participants develop and adopt new Reference Rates and fallbacks for both legacy and new instruments and contracts. The expected discontinuation of LIBOR could have a significant impact on the financial markets in general and may also present heightened risk to market participants, including public companies, investment advisers, investment companies, and broker-dealers. The risks associated with this discontinuation and transition will be exacerbated if the work necessary to effect an orderly transition to an alternative Reference Rate is not completed in a timely manner. For example, current information technology systems may be unable to accommodate new instruments and rates with features that differ from LIBOR. Accordingly, it is difficult to predict the full impact of the transition away from LIBOR on the Fund until new Reference Rates and fallbacks for both legacy and new instruments and contracts are commercially accepted and market practices become settled.

### Liquidity Management

As a temporary defensive measure, if the Sub-Adviser determines that market conditions warrant, the Fund may invest without limitation in high quality money market instruments. The Fund may also invest in high quality money market instruments pending investment or to meet anticipated redemption requests. High quality money market instruments include U.S. government obligations, U.S. government agency obligations, dollar-denominated obligations of non-U.S. issuers, bank obligations, including those of U.S. subsidiaries and branches of non-U.S. banks, corporate obligations, commercial paper, repurchase agreements and obligations of supranational organizations. Generally, such obligations will mature within one year from the date of settlement but may also mature within two years from the date of settlement.

## Money Market Obligations of Domestic Banks, Non-U.S. Banks and Non-U.S. Branches of U.S. Banks

The Fund may invest in a broad range of short-term, high quality, U.S. dollar-denominated instruments, such as government, bank, commercial and other obligations that are available in the money markets. Bank obligations include certificates of deposit ("CDs"), notes, bankers' acceptances ("BAs") and time deposits, including instruments issued or supported by the credit of U.S. or non-U.S. banks or savings institutions, domestic branches of non-U.S. banks and also non-U.S. branches of domestic banks having total assets at the time of purchase in excess of \$1 billion. These obligations may be general obligations of the parent bank or may be limited to the issuing branch or subsidiary by the terms of a specific obligation or by government regulation. In particular, the Fund may invest in:

- (a) U.S. dollar-denominated obligations issued or supported by the credit of U.S. or non-U.S. banks or savings institutions with total assets in excess of \$1 billion (including assets of domestic and non-U.S. branches of such banks);
- (b) high quality commercial paper and other obligations issued or guaranteed by U.S. and non-U.S. corporations and other issuers rated (at the time of purchase) 'A-2' or higher by S&P, 'Prime-2' or higher by Moody's or 'F-2' or higher by Fitch, as well as high quality corporate bonds rated (at the time of purchase) 'A' or higher by those rating agencies;
- (c) unrated notes, paper and other instruments that are of comparable quality to the instruments described in (b) above as determined by the Sub-Adviser;
- (d) asset-backed securities (including interests in pools of assets such as mortgages, installment purchase obligations and credit card receivables);
- (e) securities issued or guaranteed as to principal and interest by the U.S. government or by its agencies or authorities and related custodial receipts;
- (f) dollar-denominated securities issued or guaranteed by non-U.S. governments or their political subdivisions, agencies or authorities;
- (g) funding agreements issued by highly rated U.S. insurance companies;
- (h) securities issued or guaranteed by state or local governmental bodies;
- (i) repurchase agreements relating to the above instruments;
- (j) municipal bonds and notes whose principal and interest payments are guaranteed by the U.S. government or one of its agencies or instrumentalities or which otherwise depend directly or indirectly on the credit of the United States;
- (k) fixed and variable rate notes and similar debt instruments rated 'MIG-2,' 'VMIG-2' or 'Prime-2' or higher by Moody's, 'SP-2' or 'A-2' or higher by S&P, or 'F-2' or higher by Fitch;

- (l) tax-exempt commercial paper and similar debt instruments rated 'Prime-2' or higher by Moody's, 'A-2' or higher by S&P, or 'F-2' or higher by Fitch;
- (m) municipal bonds rated 'A' or higher by Moody's, S&P or Fitch;
- (n) unrated notes, paper or other instruments that are of quality comparable to the instruments described above, as determined by the Sub-Adviser under guidelines established by the Board; and
- (o) municipal bonds and notes that are guaranteed as to principal and interest by the U.S. government or an agency or instrumentality thereof or which otherwise depend directly or indirectly on the credit of the United States.

To the extent consistent with its investment objective, the Fund may invest in debt obligations of domestic or non-U.S. corporations and banks and may acquire commercial obligations issued by Canadian corporations and Canadian counterparts of U.S. corporations, as well as Europaper, which is U.S. dollar-denominated commercial paper of a non-U.S. issuer.

### Non-U.S. Investments

The Fund may invest in non-U.S. securities, including securities from issuers located in emerging market countries. These securities may be denominated in U.S. dollars or in a non-U.S. currency. Securities issued by certain companies organized outside the United States may not be deemed to be non-U.S. securities (but rather deemed to be U.S. securities) if the company's principal operations are conducted from the United States, the company's equity securities trade principally on a U.S. stock exchange or the company does a substantial amount of business in the United States.

In addition to equity securities, non-U.S. investments of the Fund may include: (a) debt obligations issued or guaranteed by non-U.S. sovereign governments or their agencies, authorities, instrumentalities or political subdivisions, including a foreign state, province or municipality; (b) debt obligations of supranational organizations; (c) debt obligations of non-U.S. banks and bank holding companies; (d) debt obligations of domestic banks and corporations issued in non-U.S. currencies; (e) debt obligations denominated in the Euro; and (f) non-U.S. corporate debt securities and commercial paper. Such securities may include loan participations and assignments, convertible securities and zero-coupon securities.

Dividends or interest on, or proceeds from the sale of, non-U.S. securities may be subject to foreign withholding taxes.

Non-U.S. Market Risk. Funds that may invest in non-U.S. securities offer the potential for more diversification than funds that invest only in the United States because securities traded on non-U.S. markets have often (though not always) performed differently from securities traded in the United States. However, such investments often involve risks not typically associated with investments in securities of companies organized and operated in the United States that can increase the chances that the Fund will lose money. In particular, the Fund is subject to the risk that, because there are generally fewer investors on non-U.S. exchanges and a smaller number of shares traded each day, it may be difficult for the Fund to buy and sell securities on those exchanges. In addition, prices of non-U.S. securities may fluctuate more than prices of securities traded in the United States. Investments in non-U.S. markets may also be adversely affected by governmental actions such as the imposition of punitive taxes. In addition, the governments of certain countries may prohibit or impose substantial restrictions on non-U.S. investment in their capital markets or in certain industries. Any of these actions could severely affect security prices, impair the Fund's ability to purchase or sell non-U.S. securities or transfer the Fund's assets or income back into the United States, or otherwise adversely affect the Fund's operations. Other potential non-U.S. market risks include exchange controls, difficulties in pricing securities, defaults on non-U.S. government securities, difficulties in enforcing favorable legal judgments in non-U.S. courts, and political and social conditions, such as diplomatic relations, confiscatory taxation, expropriation, limitation on the removal of funds or assets, or imposition of (or change in) exchange control regulations. Legal remedies available to investors in certain foreign countries may be less extensive than those available to investors in the United States or other foreign countries. In addition, changes in government administrations or economic or monetary policies in the U.S. or abroad could result in appreciation or depreciation of portfolio securities and could favorably or adversely affect the Fund's operations. Also, brokerage commissions and other costs of buying or selling securities often are higher in foreign countries than they are in the United States. This reduces the amount the Fund can earn on its investments. The expense ratios of the Fund investing significantly in non-U.S. securities can be expected to be higher than those of investment funds investing primarily in domestic securities. The costs attributable to investing abroad are usually higher for several reasons, such as the higher cost of custody of non-U.S. securities, higher commissions paid on comparable transactions on non-U.S. markets and additional costs arising from delays in settlements of transactions involving non-U.S. securities.

In certain countries, banks or other financial institutions may be among the leading companies or have actively traded securities available for investment. The 1940 Act restricts the Fund's investments in any equity securities of an issuer that, in its most recent fiscal year, derived more than 15% of its revenues from "securities related activities," as defined by the rules thereunder. These provisions may restrict the Fund's investments in certain non-U.S. banks and other financial institutions.

Non-U.S. Economy Risk. The economies of certain non-U.S. markets often do not compare favorably with that of the United States with respect to such issues as growth of gross national product, reinvestment of capital, resources and balance of payments position. Certain such economies may rely heavily on particular industries or non-U.S. capital and are more vulnerable to diplomatic developments, the imposition of economic sanctions against a particular country or countries, changes in international trading patterns, trade barriers, and other protectionist or retaliatory measures.

Currency Risk and Exchange Risk. Because non-U.S. securities generally are denominated and pay dividends or interest in non-U.S. currencies, the value of a fund that invests in non-U.S. securities as measured in U.S. dollars will be affected favorably or unfavorably by changes in exchange rates. Generally, when the U.S. dollar rises in value against a non-U.S. currency, a security denominated in that currency loses value because the currency is worth fewer U.S. dollars. Conversely, when the U.S. dollar decreases in value against a non-U.S. currency, a security denominated in that currency gains value because the currency is worth more U.S. dollars. This risk, generally known as "currency risk," means that a stronger U.S. dollar will reduce returns for U.S. investors while a weak U.S. dollar will increase those returns.

Governmental Supervision and Regulation/Accounting Standards. Many foreign governments supervise and regulate stock exchanges, brokers and the sale of securities with less rigor than the United States. Some countries may not have laws to protect investors comparable to the U.S. securities laws. For example, some foreign countries may have no laws or rules against insider trading. Insider trading occurs when a person buys or sells a company's securities based on nonpublic information about that company. Accounting standards in other countries are not necessarily the same as in the United States. If the accounting standards in another country do not require as much detail as U.S. accounting standards, it may be harder for Fund management to completely and accurately determine a company's financial condition. In addition, the U.S. government has from time to time in the past imposed restrictions, through penalties and otherwise, on non-U.S. investments by U.S. investors such as the Fund. If such restrictions should be reinstituted, it might become necessary for the Fund to invest all or substantially all of its assets in U.S. securities.

Certain Risks of Holding Fund Assets Outside the United States. The Fund generally holds its non-U.S. securities in non-U.S. banks and securities depositories may be recently organized or new to the non-U.S. custody business. In addition, there may be limited or no regulatory oversight over their operations. Also, the laws of certain countries may put limits on the Fund's ability to recover its assets if a non-U.S. bank or depository or issuer of a security or any of their agents goes bankrupt. In addition, it is often more expensive for the Fund to buy, sell and hold securities in certain non-U.S. markets than in the United States. The increased expense of investing in non-U.S. markets reduces the amount the Fund can earn on its investments and typically results in a higher operating expense ratio for the Fund as compared to investment companies that invest only in the United States.

Publicly Available Information. In general, less information is publicly available with respect to non-U.S. issuers than is available with respect to U.S. companies. Most non-U.S. companies are also not subject to the uniform accounting and financial reporting requirements applicable to issuers in the United States. While the volume of transactions effected on non-U.S. stock exchanges has increased in recent years, it remains appreciably below that of the New York Stock Exchange. Accordingly, the Fund's non-U.S. investments may be less liquid and their prices may be more volatile than comparable investments in securities in U.S. companies.

Settlement Risk. Settlement and clearance procedures in certain non-U.S. markets differ significantly from those in the United States. Non-U.S. settlement procedures and trade regulations also may involve certain risks (such as delays in payment for or delivery of securities) not typically generated by the settlement of U.S. investments. Communications between the United States and emerging market countries may be unreliable, increasing the risk of delayed settlements or losses of security certificates in markets that still rely on physical settlement. Settlements in certain foreign countries at times have not kept pace with the number of securities transactions. These problems may make it difficult for the Fund to carry out transactions. If the Fund cannot settle or is delayed in settling a purchase of securities, it may miss attractive investment opportunities and certain of its assets may be uninvested with no return earned thereon for some period. If the Fund cannot settle or is delayed in settling a sale of securities, it may lose money if the value of the security then declines or, if it has contracted to sell the security to another party, the Fund could be liable to that party for any losses incurred.

#### Portfolio Turnover Rates

The Fund's annual portfolio turnover rate will not be a factor preventing a sale or purchase when the Sub-Adviser believes investment considerations warrant such sale or purchase. Portfolio turnover may vary greatly from year to year as well as within a particular year. High portfolio turnover (*i.e.*, 100% or more) may result in increased transaction costs to the Fund, including brokerage commissions, dealer markups and other transaction costs on the sale of the securities and reinvestment in other securities. The sale of the Fund's securities may result in the recognition of capital gain or loss. Given the frequency of sales, such gain or loss will likely be short-term capital gain or loss. These effects of higher than normal portfolio turnover may adversely affect the Fund's performance.

The portfolio turnover rates for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2022 and 2021, are set forth below:

Fiscal Year Ended	Fiscal Year Ended
September 30,	September 30,
2022	2021
78%	49%

## Real Estate Investment Trusts ("REITs")

In pursuing its investment strategy, the Fund may invest in shares of REITs. REITs possess certain risks that differ from those of an investment in common stocks. REITs are financial vehicles that pool investors' capital to purchase or finance real estate. REITs may concentrate their investments in specific geographic areas or in specific property types, *i.e.*, hotels, shopping malls, residential complexes and office buildings.

REITs are subject to management fees and other expenses, and so the Fund will bear its proportionate share of the costs of the REITs' operations. There are three general categories of REITs: Equity REITs, Mortgage REITs and Hybrid REITs. Equity REITs invest primarily in direct fee ownership or leasehold ownership of real property; they derive most of their income from rents. Mortgage REITs invest mostly in mortgages on real estate, which may secure construction, development or long-term loans; the main source of their income is mortgage interest payments. Hybrid REITs hold both ownership and mortgage interests in real estate.

Investing in REITs involves certain unique risks in addition to those risks associated with investing in the real estate industry in general. The market value of REIT shares and the ability of the REITs to distribute income may be adversely affected by several factors, including rising interest rates; changes in the national, state and local economic climate and real estate conditions; perceptions of prospective tenants of the safety, convenience and attractiveness of the properties; the ability of the owners to provide adequate management, maintenance and insurance; the cost of complying with the Americans with Disabilities Act, as amended; increased competition from new properties; the impact of present or future environmental legislation and compliance with environmental laws; failing to maintain their exemptions from registration under the 1940 Act; changes in real estate taxes and other operating expenses; adverse changes in governmental rules and fiscal policies; adverse changes in zoning laws; and other factors beyond the control of the issuers of the REITs. In addition, distributions received by the Fund from REITs may consist of dividends, capital gains and/or return of capital. As REITs generally pay a higher rate of dividends (on a pre-tax basis) than operating companies, to the extent application of the Fund's investment strategy results in the Fund investing in REIT shares, the percentage of the Fund's dividend income received from REIT shares will likely exceed the percentage of the Fund's portfolio that is comprised of REIT shares. Generally, dividends received by the Fund from REIT shares and distributed to the Fund's shareholders will not constitute 'qualified dividend income' eligible for the reduced tax rate applicable to qualified dividend income; therefore, the tax rate applicable to that portion of the dividend income attributable to REIT shares held by the Fund that shareholders of the Fund receive will be taxed at a higher rate than dividends eligible for the reduced tax rate applicable to qualified dividend income. To the extent, however, that the Fund designates dividends it pays to its shareholders as "section 199A dividends" such shareholder may be eligible for a 20% deduction with respect to such dividends. The amount of section 199A dividends that the Fund may pay and report to its shareholders is limited to the excess of the ordinary REIT dividends, other than capital gain dividends and portions of REIT dividends designated as qualified dividend income, that the Fund receives from REITs for a taxable year over the Fund's expenses allocable to such dividends.

REITs (especially mortgage REITs) are also subject to interest rate risk. Rising interest rates may cause REIT investors to demand a higher annual yield, which may, in turn, cause a decline in the market price of the equity securities issued by a REIT. Rising interest rates also generally increase the costs of obtaining financing, which could cause the value of the Fund's REIT investments to decline. During periods when interest rates are declining, mortgages are often refinanced. Refinancing may reduce the yield on investments in mortgage REITs. In addition, since REITs depend on payment under their mortgage loans and leases to generate cash to make distributions to their shareholders, investments in REITs may be adversely affected by defaults on such mortgage loans or leases.

Investing in certain REITs, which often have small market capitalizations, may also involve the same risks as investing in other small capitalization companies. REITs may have limited financial resources and their securities may trade less frequently and in limited volume and may be subject to more abrupt or erratic price movements than larger company securities. Historically, small capitalization stocks, such as REITs, have been more volatile in price than the larger capitalization stocks such as those included in the S&P 500 Index. The management of a REIT may be subject to conflicts of interest with respect to the operation of the business of the REIT and may be involved in real estate activities competitive with the REIT. A REIT may own properties through joint ventures or in other circumstances in which the REIT may not have control over its investments. REITs may incur significant amounts of leverage.

### **Real Estate-Related Securities**

Although the Fund may not invest directly in real estate, the Fund may invest in equity securities of issuers that are principally engaged in the real estate industry. Such investments are subject to certain risks associated with the ownership of real estate and with the real estate industry in general. These risks include, among others: possible declines in the value of real estate; risks related to general and local economic conditions; possible lack of availability of mortgage funds or other limitations on access to capital; overbuilding; risks associated with leverage; market illiquidity; extended vacancies of properties; increase in competition, property taxes, capital expenditures and operating expenses; changes in zoning laws or other governmental regulation; costs resulting from the cleanup of, and liability to third parties for damages resulting from, environmental problems; tenant bankruptcies or other credit problems; casualty or condemnation losses; uninsured damages from floods, earthquakes or other natural disasters; limitations on and variations in rents, including decreases in market rates for rents; investment in developments that are not completed or that are subject to delays in completion; and changes in interest rates. To the extent that assets underlying the Fund's investments are concentrated geographically, by property type or in certain other respects, the Fund may be subject to certain of the foregoing risks to a greater extent. Investments by the Fund in securities of companies providing mortgage servicing will be subject to the risks associated with refinancing and their impact on servicing rights.

In addition, if the Fund receives rental income or income from the disposition of real property acquired as a result of a default on securities the Fund owns, the receipt of such income may adversely affect the Fund's ability to retain its tax status as a regulated investment company because of certain income source requirements applicable to regulated investment companies under the Code.

### **Temporary Defensive Position**

While assuming a temporary defensive position, the Fund may invest in cash or cash-equivalent short-term investment-grade obligations, including: obligations of the U.S. government, its agencies and instrumentalities; corporate debt securities, such as commercial paper, master demand notes, loan participation interests, medium-term notes and funding agreements; Yankeedollar and Eurodollar bank certificates of deposit, time deposits and bankers' acceptances; asset-backed securities; and repurchase agreements involving the foregoing obligations. Eurodollar obligations are U.S. dollar obligations issued outside the United States by domestic or foreign entities, while Yankeedollar obligations are U.S. dollar obligations issued inside the United States by foreign entities. There is generally less publicly available information about non-U.S. issuers, and there may be less governmental regulation and supervision of non-U.S. stock exchanges, brokers and listed companies. Non-U.S. issuers may use different accounting and financial standards, and the addition of non-U.S. governmental restrictions may affect adversely the payment of principal and interest on non-U.S. investments. In addition, not all foreign branches of U.S. banks are supervised or examined by regulatory authorities as are U.S. banks, and such branches may not be subject to reserve requirements.

### **U.S. Government Obligations**

The Fund may purchase obligations issued or guaranteed by the U.S. government and U.S. government agencies and instrumentalities. Obligations of certain agencies and instrumentalities of the U.S. government are supported by the full faith and credit of the U.S. Treasury. Others are supported by the right of the issuer to borrow from the U.S. Treasury; still others are supported only by the credit of the agency or instrumentality issuing the obligation. No assurance can be given that the U.S. government will provide financial support to U.S. government-sponsored instrumentalities if it is not obligated to do so by law. There is no assurance that these commitments will be undertaken or complied with in the future. The maximum potential liability of the issuers of some U.S. government securities may greatly exceed their current resources, including any legal right to support from the U.S. Treasury. Certain U.S. Treasury and agency securities may be held by trusts that issue participation certificates (such as Treasury income growth receipts ("TIGRs") and certificates of accrual on Treasury certificates ("CATs")). These certificates, as well as Treasury receipts and other stripped securities, represent beneficial ownership interests in either future interest payments or future principal payments on U.S. government obligations. These instruments are issued at a discount to their "face value" and may (particularly in the case of stripped mortgage-backed securities) exhibit greater price volatility than ordinary debt securities because of the manner in which their principal and interest are returned to investors.

Examples of the types of U.S. government obligations that may be held by the Fund include U.S. Treasury Bills, Treasury Notes and Treasury Bonds and the obligations of the Federal Housing Administration, Farmers Home Administration, Export-Import Bank of the United States, Small Business Administration, Ginnie Mae, Federal Financing Bank, General Services Administration, Student Loan Marketing Association, Central Bank for Cooperatives, Federal Home Loan Banks, Freddie Mac, Federal Intermediate Credit Banks, Federal Land Banks, Farm Credit Banks System, Maritime Administration, Tennessee Valley Authority and Washington D.C. Armory Board. The Fund may also invest in mortgage-related securities issued or guaranteed by U.S. government agencies and instrumentalities, including such instruments as obligations of Ginnie Mae, Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac.

U.S. Treasury Obligations. Treasury obligations may differ in their interest rates, maturities, times of issuance and other characteristics. Obligations of U.S. government agencies and authorities are supported by varying degrees of credit but generally are not backed by the full faith and credit of the U.S. government. No assurance can be given that the U.S. government will provide financial support to its agencies and authorities if it is not obligated by law to do so.

### Management

The management of the Trust, including general supervision of the duties performed for the Fund under the Investment Management Agreement, is the responsibility of the Board of Trustees. The Trust has four trustees all of whom are not "interested persons" as defined in Section 2(a)(19) under the 1940 Act (referred to herein as "Independent Trustees"). The names, business addresses and years of birth of the trustees and executive officers of the Fund, their principal occupations and other affiliations during the past five years, the number of portfolios each oversees and other directorships they hold are set forth below. The trustees of the Trust are trustees of two Destra-sponsored open-end funds (the Fund and the Destra Flaherty & Crumrine Preferred and Income Fund, each a series of the Trust), two Destra-sponsored closedend funds (the BlueBay Destra International Event-Driven Credit Fund and the Destra Multi-Alternative Fund) and the Destra Exchange-Traded Fund Trust, of which there is currently no active series (collectively, the "Destra Funds" or the "Fund Complex"). The address for each Trustee is c/o Destra Investment Trust, 443 N. Willson Ave., Bozeman, MT, 59715.

Name and Birth Year	Position(s) Held with Fund	Term of Office and Length of Time Served with Trust	Principal Occupation(s) During Past Five Years	Number of Portfolios in Fund Complex Overseen by Trustee <sup>(1)</sup>	Other Directorships held by the Trustee
Independent Trustees					
John S. Emrich, CFA Birth year: 1967	Trustee	Term – Indefinite Length of Service – Since 2014	Financial Advisor, self-employed, Red Earth Finance LLC (January 2018 to present); Mortgage Banker, The Mortgage Company (2018 to 2021).	4	Meridian Fund, Inc. (registered investment company) (4 portfolios); ArrowMark Financial Corp. (closed-end management investment company)
Michael S. Erickson Birth year: 1952	Trustee	Term – Indefinite Length of Service – Since 2014	Private Investor (August 2007 to present); Chief Operating Officer and Chief Financial Officer, Erickson Holding Corp. (a passive real estate holding company) (2003 to present); Chief Operating Officer and Chief Financial Officer, McGee Island LLC (a real estate management company) (2015 to present).	4	Meridian Fund, Inc. (registered investment company) (4 portfolios)
Jeffrey S. Murphy Birth year: 1966	Trustee	Term – Indefinite Length of Service – Since 2017	Retired (2014 to present).	4	None
Nicholas Dalmaso, <sup>(2)</sup> Birth year: 1965	Trustee and Chairman	Term – Indefinite Length of Service – Since 2010	General Counsel of EquityBee, Inc. (2022 to present); Chair and CEO of Sound Capital Holdings LLC, Sound Capital Distributors LLC (a registered broker/dealer) and Sound Capital Solutions LLC (an investment advisor) (2020 to present); General Counsel (2014 to present) and Chief Compliance Officer (2014 to 2019) of M1 Holdings Inc.; General Counsel (2014 to present) and Chief Compliance Officer (2014 to 2019) of M1 Finance LLC (a registered broker/dealer); General Counsel (2014 to present) and Chief Compliance Officer (2014 to 2019) of M1 Finance LLC (a registered broker/dealer); General Counsel (2014 to present) and Chief Compliance Officer (2014 to 2019) of M1 Advisory Services LLC (an investment adviser); Independent Director of Keno Kozie Associates (IT Consulting) (2016 to 2018).	4	None

Each trustee serves for the lifetime of the Trust until removal, resignation or retirement and his or her successor is elected.

The following persons serve as the Fund's executive officers in the following capacities:

Name and Birth Year	Position(s) Held with the Fund	Principal Occupation(s) During the Past 5 Years
Robert Watson Birth year: 1965	President since 2018	Partner & Head of Investments (2021 to present); Senior Managing Director and Investment Product Strategist (2011 to 2020), Destra Capital Investments LLC (2011 to 2020).
Derek Mullins Birth year: 1973	Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer since November 2018	Managing Partner and Co-Founder, PINE Advisor Solutions (2018 to present); Director of Operations, ArrowMark Colorado Holdings LLC (2009 to 2018); Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer) and Treasurer, Meridian Fund, Inc. (2013 to 2018).
Jake Schultz Birth year: 1996	Secretary since May 2021	Partner & Director, Portfolio Oversight & Analytics (2021 to present); Director, Product Management (2020 to 2021); Product Analyst (2018 to 2020), Destra Capital Management LLC, Destra Capital Investments LLC and Destra Capital Advisors LLC (2018 to present).
Marcie McVeigh Birth year: 1979	Assistant Treasurer since August 2020	Director of CFO Services, PINE Advisor Solutions (2020 to present); Assistant Vice President and Performance Measurement Manager, Brown Brothers Harriman (2019 to 2020); Senior Financial Reporting Specialist, American Century Investments (2011 to 2018).
Ken Merritt Birth year: 1961	Assistant Secretary since May 2021	Partner & Director, Product Management & Development (2021 to present); Senior Managing Director, Product Management & Development (2019 to 2021), Destra Capital Management LLC, Destra Capital Advisors LLC and Destra Capital Investments LLC; Senior Managing Director, Fund Operations, Priority Income Fund (2018 to 2019), Destra Capital Management LLC; Managing Director, External Wholesaler (2012 to 2018), Destra Capital Management LLC.
Cory J. Gossard Birth year: 1972	Chief Compliance Officer since May 2021	Director, PINE Advisor Solutions (2021 to present); Chief Compliance Officer, Vident Investment Advisory (2020); Chief Compliance Officer, SS&C ALPS (2014 to 2020).

The address for each executive officer is 443 N. Willson Ave., Bozeman, MT, 59715.

<sup>(1)</sup> The Fund Complex consists of the BlueBay Destra International Event-Driven Credit Fund, the Destra Multi-Alternative Fund, the Fund, and the Destra Flaherty & Crumrine Preferred and Income Fund, each of the latter two being a series of the Destra Investment Trust, and the Destra Exchange-Traded Fund Trust, of which there is currently no active series.

<sup>(2)</sup> Prior to February 8, 2021, Mr. Dalmaso was considered an "interested person" of the Fund (as defined in the 1940 Act) because of his former position with Destra. As of February 8, 2021, Mr. Dalmaso is no longer an "interested person."

### **Board Leadership Structure and Risk Oversight**

The Board of Trustees oversees the operations and management of the Destra Funds, including the duties performed for the Destra Funds by Destra, the investment adviser. The officers of the Trust hold the same positions with the other Destra Funds as they hold with the Trust.

The management of the Fund, including general supervision of the duties performed for the Fund under the Investment Management Agreement between the Trust, on behalf of the Fund, and the Adviser, is the responsibility of the Board of Trustees. The Board of Trustees sets broad policies for the Fund, chooses the Trust's officers and hires the Fund's investment adviser, sub-adviser and other service providers. The officers of the Trust manage the day-to-day operations and are responsible to the Trust's Board, which is composed of four Independent Trustees. Nicholas Dalmaso serves as the Chairman of the Board of the Destra Funds. Robert Watson serves as the President and Chief Executive Officer of the Destra Funds. The Board does not currently have a lead independent trustee, and each Independent Trustee plays an active role on the Board

Annually, the Board reviews its governance and committee structures, performance and functions and any processes that would enhance Board governance over the Fund's business. The Board has determined that its leadership structure is appropriate based on the characteristics of the Destra Funds as a whole.

The Board has established two standing committees (as described below) and has delegated certain of its responsibilities to those committees. The Board and its committees meet frequently throughout the year to oversee the Fund's activities, review contractual arrangements with and performance of service providers, oversee compliance with regulatory requirements and review Fund performance. The Independent Trustees are represented by independent legal counsel at all Board and committee meetings. Generally, the Board acts by majority vote of all the trustees, including a majority vote of the Independent Trustees if required by applicable law.

The two standing committees of the Destra Funds are the Nominating and Governance Committee and the Audit Committee. The Nominating and Governance Committee is responsible for appointing and nominating non-interested persons to the Board of Trustees. Messrs. Emrich, Erickson, Dalmaso and Murphy are members of the Nominating and Governance Committee. If there is no vacancy on the Board of Trustees, the Board will not actively seek recommendations from other parties, including shareholders. When a vacancy on the Board of Trustees of the Destra Funds occurs and nominations are sought to fill such vacancy, the Nominating and Governance Committee may seek nominations from those sources it deems appropriate in its discretion, including shareholders of the Fund. To submit a recommendation for nomination as a candidate for a position on the Board of Trustees, shareholders of the Fund shall mail such recommendation to Jake Schultz, Secretary, at the Fund's address, 443 N. Willson Ave., Bozeman, MT, 59715. Such recommendation shall include the following information: (i) evidence of Fund ownership of the person or entity recommending the candidate (if a Fund shareholder); (ii) a full description of the proposed candidate's background, including education, experience, current employment and date of birth; (iii) names and addresses of at least three professional references for the candidate's background, including education, experience, current employment in relation to the Fund, as such term is defined in the 1940 Act, and such other information that may be considered to impair the candidate is an "interested person" in relation to the Fund, as such term is defined in the 1940 Act, and such other information that may be considered to impair the candidate is not interested person and the recommendation is received with satisfactorily completed information regarding a candidate during a time when a vacancy exists on the Board or during such other time as the Nominating and Governance Committee is accepting recommendations, t

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Fund's accounting and financial reporting process, the system of internal controls, audit process and evaluating and appointing independent auditors (subject also to Board approval). Messrs. Emrich, Erickson and Murphy serve on the Audit Committee. During the fiscal year ended September 30, 2022, the Audit Committee met three times.

As part of the general oversight of the Fund, the Board is involved in the risk oversight of the Fund. The Board has adopted and periodically reviews policies and procedures designed to address the Fund's risks. Oversight of investment and compliance risk, including oversight of any sub-advisers, is performed primarily at the Board level in conjunction with Destra's Investment Committee and the Trust's Chief Compliance Officer ("CCO"). Destra's Investment Committee reports to the Board at quarterly meetings regarding, among other things, Fund performance and the various drivers of such performance, as well as information related to sub-advisers and their operations and processes. The Board reviews reports on the Fund's and the service providers' compliance policies and procedures at each quarterly Board meeting and receives an annual report from the CCO regarding the operations of the Fund's and the service providers' compliance programs. The Audit Committee reviews with Destra the Fund's major financial risk exposures and the steps Destra has taken to monitor and control these exposures, including the Fund's risk assessment and risk management policies and guidelines. The Audit Committee also, as appropriate, reviews in a general manner the processes other Board committees have in place with respect to risk assessment and risk management. The Nominating and Governance Committee monitors all matters related to the corporate governance of the Fund. The Board is responsible for all pricing and valuation matters and delegates the day-to-day pricing and valuation obligations to Destra's Investment Committee. The Board oversees the pricing agents and actions by Destra's Investment Committee with respect to the valuation of portfolio securities.

Not all risks that may affect the Fund can be identified nor can controls be developed to eliminate or mitigate their occurrence or effects. It may not be practical or cost effective to eliminate or mitigate certain risks, the processes and controls employed to address certain risks may be limited in their effectiveness and some risks are simply beyond the reasonable control of the Fund or Destra or other service providers. Moreover, it is necessary to bear certain risks (such as investment-related risks) to achieve the Fund's goals. As a result of the foregoing and other factors, the Fund's ability to manage risk is subject to substantial limitations.

### **Board Diversification and Trustee Qualifications**

As described above, the Nominating and Governance Committee of the Board oversees matters related to the nomination of trustees. The Nominating and Governance Committee seeks to establish an effective Board with an appropriate range of skills and diversity, including, as appropriate, differences in background, professional experience, education, vocations and other individual characteristics and traits in the aggregate. Each trustee must meet certain basic requirements, including relevant skills and experience, time availability and, if qualifying as an Independent Trustee, independence from Destra and any sub-adviser, underwriter or other service provider to the Fund, including any affiliates of these entities.

For each current trustee, the qualifications and attributes described in the section entitled "Management" above and in the paragraphs below have led to the Board's conclusion that, as of the date of this SAI, each trustee is qualified to serve as a trustee of the Trust. References to the experiences, qualifications, attributes and skills of Board members are pursuant to requirements of the SEC, do not constitute holding out of the Board or any Board member as having any special expertise or experience and shall not impose any greater responsibility or liability on any such person or on the Board by reason thereof.

John S. Emrich. Mr. Emrich has significant experience in the investment management and financial services industry. Mr. Emrich served as a financial analyst or portfolio manager for over 14 years for various investment advisory firms and currently serves as a director of Meridian Fund, Inc. Prior to such positions he also performed business valuations and appraisal analyses at KPMG Peat Marwick, an accounting firm.

Michael S. Erickson. Mr. Erickson has significant leadership and financial management experience, previously serving as Chairman of the Board and Chief Financial Officer of AeroAstro for nearly ten years, and as a Director on the Board of Directors of Decimal, Inc., an online IRA administration company. Mr. Erickson also currently serves as a director of Meridian Fund, Inc., an open-end registered investment company. He has served as a certified public accountant for Coopers & Lybrand, an accounting firm, and has served as Chief Operating and Chief Financial Officer for several companies. Mr. Erickson holds a Master of Business Administration degree from Stanford Graduate School of Business.

Jeffrey S. Murphy. Mr. Murphy has significant experience in the investment management and financial services industry. Mr. Murphy held numerous positions during his 20-year tenure at Affiliated Managers Group, Inc., including in operations, finance and capital development areas. Mr. Murphy also held positions on the executive board and mutual fund board of trustees for several Affiliated Managers Group, Inc. affiliates.

Nicholas Dalmaso. Nicholas Dalmaso is an accomplished Senior Executive and Legal Professional with more than 25 years of success spanning financial services, investments, banking, and fin-tech. His broad areas of expertise include corporate governance, regulatory compliance, litigation, asset and investment management, business development, strategy, and securities law. Throughout his executive career, he has held leadership positions with M1 Holdings, Destra Capital Management, Claymore Group, Nuveen Investments, and Van Kampen Investments.

### **Compensation of Trustees**

Trustees who do not also serve in an executive officer capacity for the Fund, Destra, or GIM are entitled to receive from the Fund an annual cash retainer.

In consideration of the services rendered by the Independent Trustees, the Fund Complex pays each Independent Trustee a retainer of \$39,000 per year, and the Chairman of the Board a retainer of \$46,000 per year for his services in this capacity. Each fund in the Fund Complex pays or paid a portion of the retainer received by each Trustee, which is allocated annually across the Fund Complex based on each fund's respective net assets as of December 31 of the preceding year.

The Fund also reimburses each of the Trustees for all reasonable and authorized business expenses in accordance with the Fund's policies as in effect from time to time, including reimbursement of reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred in connection with attending each in-person Board meeting and each committee meeting not held concurrently with a Board meeting.

The following table provides information (including reimbursement for travel and out-of-pocket expenses) for the fiscal year ended September 30,2022. The Trust does not have a bonus, profit sharing, pension or retirement plan.

	Pension or					
			Retirement			
			Benefits	Estimated		Total
	A	Aggregate Accrued		Annual		mpensation
	Compensation		Part of Fund	Benefits upon from F		rom Fund
Name and Position	from Fund		Expenses	Retirement	(	Complex*
John S. Emrich, Trustee	\$	1,891	None	None	\$	39,000
Michael S. Erickson, Trustee	\$	1,891	None	None	\$	39,000
Jeffrey S. Murphy, Trustee	\$	1,891	None	None	\$	39,000
Nicholas Dalmaso, Trustee	\$	2,230	None	None	\$	46,000

<sup>\*</sup> The term "Fund Complex" as used here refers to the Fund and the Destra Flaherty & Crumrine Preferred and Income Fund, each a series of the Trust, the BlueBay Destra International Event-Driven Credit Fund, the Destra Multi-Alternative Fund and the Destra Exchange-Traded Fund Trust, of which there is currently no active series.

## **Share Ownership**

As of December 31, 2022, the dollar range of equity securities beneficially owned by the trustees is provided in the following table:

		Aggregate Dollar Range of
		<b>Equity Securities in All Registered Investment</b>
	Dollar Range of Equity	Companies Overseen by Trustee in
Name of Trustee	Securities in the Fund	Family of Investment Companies
John S. Emrich	None	None
Michael S. Erickson	None	None
Jeffrey S. Murphy	None	None
Nicholas Dalmaso	None	None

As of December 31, 2022, none of the Independent Trustees or their immediate family members owned, beneficially, or of record, any securities in (i) an investment adviser or principal underwriter of the Fund or (ii) a person (other than a registered investment company) directly or indirectly controlled by, or under common control with an investment adviser or principal underwriter of the Fund.

## **Control Persons and Principal Shareholders**

A control person is a shareholder that (1) beneficially owns, directly or indirectly through controlled companies, more than 25% of the voting securities of a company, (2) acknowledges or asserts the existence of control, or (3) has a final adjudication under section 2(a)(9) of the 1940 Act that control exists. A principal shareholder is any person who owns of record or beneficially 5% or more of the outstanding shares of any class of the Fund. Shareholders owning voting securities in excess of 25% may determine the outcome of any matter affecting and voted on by shareholders of the Fund. Any control person of a class, as noted below, may be able to significantly influence the outcome of any item presented to shareholders for approval.

As of January 3, 2023, the following persons or organizations held beneficially or of record 5% or more of the shares of the Fund.

Class	Name	Address	Ownership
Class A	Charles Schwab & Co., Inc.	211 Main Street, San Francisco, California 94105	52%
Class	Name	Address	Percentage of Ownership
Class I	TD Ameritrade, Inc.	PO Box 2226, Omaha, Nebraska 68103	10%
Class I	Charles Schwab & Co., Inc.	211 Main Street, San Francisco, California 94105	7%
CIGOS I	charles service & co., me.	211 Main Street, San Francisco, Camerina / 1100	

Percentage of

As of January 3, 2023, the officers and trustees of the Fund, in the aggregate, owned less than 1% of the equity securities of the Fund.

#### Investment Adviser and Sub-Adviser

#### Investment Adviser

Destra Capital Advisors LLC ("Destra" or the "Adviser") is the investment adviser of the Fund, with responsibility for the overall management of the Fund. It is also responsible for managing the Fund's business affairs and providing day-to-day administrative services to the Fund. Destra, located at 443 N. Willson Ave., Bozeman, MT, 59715, is a Delaware limited liability company and is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Destra Capital Management LLC. Destra is an affiliate of Destra Capital Investments LLC, the principal underwriter and distributor of the Fund's shares (the "Distributor"). The Distributor is also located at 443 N. Willson Ave., Bozeman, MT, 59715.

For the management services provided by Destra, the Fund has agreed to pay a monthly fee in an annual amount equal to 1.10% of the Fund's average daily net assets. Destra has agreed to contractually waive its management fee and/or assume the other expenses in order to limit the total annual fund operating expenses of the Fund to certain limits until at least January 31, 2033, and will automatically continue in effect for successive twelve-month periods thereafter. Any waiver or reimbursement by the Adviser is subject to repayment by the Fund within three years from the date of the waiver, provided that the Fund is able to make the repayment without causing the Fund's expense ratio (after recoupment) to exceed the lesser of (i) the expense limit in effect at the time of the waiver and (ii) the expense limit in effect at the time of the repayment, and the repayment is approved by the Board of Trustees.

The following table shows the management fees (net of fee waivers and expense reimbursements, where applicable) paid by the Fund to Destra and the fees waived by Destra for the specified period.

	Amount of			
	Management			
	Fees (Net of Fee Amoun		unt of Fees	
	Wa	ivers and	1	Waived
	Expense and Exp		Expenses	
	Reimbursements Reimbu		imbursed	
	by Destra) by l		y Destra	
For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2020	\$	0*	\$	211,052
For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2021	\$	161,397**	\$	54,925
For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2022	\$	31,863***	\$	205,662

<sup>\*</sup> For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2020, the Adviser earned \$62,808 in management fees. Fees paid (net of fee waivers and/or expense reimbursement) amounted to \$148,244.

The Fund, Destra and other related entities have adopted codes of ethics that significantly restrict Destra Funds personnel with access to non-public portfolio information from certain personal investment transactions. These codes of ethics contain policies restricting securities trading in personal accounts of the officers, trustees and others who normally come into possession of information on portfolio transactions. These codes of ethics are on public file with, and are available from, the SEC. The Distributor has adopted a code of ethics that permits personnel to acquire shares of the Fund pursuant to Item 17(e) of Form N-1A.

### Sub-Adviser

Destra has selected Granahan Investment Management, Inc. ("GIM" or the "Sub-Adviser"), 404 Wyman Street, Suite 460, Waltham, MA 02451, as sub-adviser to manage the investment portfolio of the Fund. Pursuant to an investment sub-advisory agreement, Destra has agreed to pay an annualized sub-advisory fee to GIM equal to 50% of the advisory fee paid to Destra for its services to the Fund (net of any waivers, reimbursement payments, supermarket fees and alliance fees waived, reimbursed or paid by Destra in respect of the Fund).

<sup>\*\*</sup> For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2021, the Adviser earned \$216,322 in management fees. Fees paid (net of fee waivers and/or expense reimbursement) amounted to \$161,397

<sup>\*\*\*</sup> For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2022, the Adviser earned \$237,525 in management fees. Fees paid (net of fee waivers and/or expense reimbursement) amounted to \$31.863.

The following table shows the fees paid by Destra to GIM for its services for the specified periods.

	Amount Paid by Destra to GIM	
For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2020	\$	0
For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2021	\$	42,085
For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2022	\$	30,247

### Portfolio Managers

The following paragraphs provide certain information with respect to the Co-Lead Portfolio Managers and Portfolio Managers (together, the "portfolio managers") of the Fund and the material conflicts of interest that may arise in connection with their management of the investments of the Fund, on the one hand, and the investments of other client accounts for which they have responsibility, on the other hand.

Andrew L. Beja, CFA and Jeffrey A. Harrison, CFA serve as the Fund's Co-Lead Portfolio Managers and Jennifer Pawloski, David M. Rose, CFA and Richard Watson, CFA serve as the Fund's Portfolio Managers. The portfolio managers are jointly responsible for the day-to-day management of the Fund.

Other Accounts Managed. The table below illustrates other accounts where each of the portfolio managers has significant day-to-day management responsibilities as of September 30, 2022.

Portfolio Manager	Number of Accounts	Ac	sets of counts nillions)*	Subject to a Pe Performance		ssets ject to a ormance Fee nillions)
Andrew L. Beja						
Other Registered Investment Companies	2	\$	730	0	\$	-
Other Pooled Investment Vehicles	3	\$	805	2	\$	123
Other Accounts	60	\$	767	7	\$	20
<u>Jeffrey A. Harrison</u>						
Other Registered Investment Companies	4	\$	745	0	\$	-
Other Pooled Investment Vehicles	3	\$	297	0	\$	-
Other Accounts	17	\$	343	0	\$	-
<u>Jennifer M. Pawloski</u>						
Other Registered Investment Companies	1	\$	203	0	\$	-
Other Pooled Investment Vehicles	1	\$	281	0	\$	-
Other Accounts	7	\$	234	0	\$	-
David M. Rose						
Other Registered Investment Companies	2	\$	730	0	\$	-
Other Pooled Investment Vehicles	2	\$	647	0	\$	-
Other Accounts	17	\$	380	0	\$	-
Richard Watson						
Other Registered Investment Companies	2	\$	203	0	\$	-
Other Pooled Investment Vehicles	2	\$	313	0	\$	-
Other Accounts	3	\$	232	0	\$	-

<sup>\*</sup> Total assets reflect accounts managed jointly as part of a team.

Conflicts of Interest. In addition to the Fund, the portfolio managers jointly manage accounts for and other individual and institutional clients as noted above.

As a result, potential conflicts of interest may arise as follows:

- Allocation of Limited Time and Attention. The portfolio managers may devote unequal time and attention to the management of all accounts. As a result, the portfolio managers may not be able to formulate as complete a strategy or identify equally attractive investment opportunities for each of those accounts as might be the case if they were to devote substantially more attention to the management of one account.
- Allocation of Limited Investment Opportunities. If the portfolio managers identify an investment opportunity that may be suitable for multiple accounts, the Fund may not be able to take full advantage of that opportunity because the opportunity may need to be allocated among other accounts.
- Pursuit of Differing Strategies. At times, the portfolio managers may determine that an investment opportunity may be appropriate for only some accounts or may decide that certain of these accounts should take differing positions (i.e., may buy or sell the particular security at different times or the same time or in differing amounts) with respect to a particular security. In these cases, the portfolio managers may place separate transactions for one or more accounts, which may affect the market price of the security or the execution of the transaction, or both, to the detriment of one or more other accounts.
- Variation in Compensation. A conflict of interest may arise where the financial or other benefits available to the portfolio managers differ among accounts. While
  GIM only charges fees based on assets under management for the Fund, and while it strives to maintain uniform fee schedules, it does have different fee schedules
  based on the differing advisory services required by some accounts, including performance-based compensation. Consequently, though the differences in such fee
  rates are slight, the portfolio managers may be motivated to favor certain accounts over others. In addition, the desire to maintain assets under management or to
  derive other rewards, financial or otherwise, could influence the portfolio managers in affording preferential treatment to those accounts that could most
  significantly benefit GIM.

GIM and the Fund have adopted compliance policies and procedures that are designed to address the various conflicts of interest that may arise for the Sub-Adviser and its staff members. However, there is no guarantee that such policies and procedures will be able to detect and prevent every situation in which an actual or potential conflict may arise.

Compensation of the Portfolio Managers. All analysts and portfolio managers at GIM are compensated with a base salary plus an annual bonus and profit sharing. Bonuses are based on an objective formula and have the potential to double, or more, an analyst or portfolio manager's salary. The bonus formula accounts for individual contribution and performance sector teams (if applicable), with emphasis on three-year rolling performance against the applicable benchmark(s). The Sub-Adviser believes that the formula promotes accountability and sector teamwork and aligns GIM employees' interests with those of its clients.

The portfolio managers for all sole-managed strategies, as well as for the Fund's strategy, are also compensated on a performance-based revenue share with respect to assets directly managed by the portfolio manager in those strategies. Internal performance goals for the portfolio managers are based on the Fund's benchmark, the Russell 2000<sup>®</sup> Growth Index. Employee shareholders of GIM are also compensated through their equity in the firm, in the form of dividends.

Ownership of Securities. As of September 30, 2022 the portfolio managers beneficially owned the following dollar range of equity securities in the Fund.

	Dollar Range of
	Equity Securities
Portfolio Manager	in the Fund
Andrew L. Beja	\$100,001-\$500,000
Jeffrey A. Harrison	None
Jennifer M. Pawloski	None
David M. Rose	None
Richard Watson	None

#### **Proxy Voting Policies**

The Fund has adopted a proxy voting policy that seeks to ensure that proxies for securities held by the Fund are voted consistently and solely in the best economic interests of the Fund.

The Board of Trustees is responsible for oversight of the Fund's proxy voting process. The Board has delegated day-to-day proxy voting responsibility to Destra, which utilizes Glass, Lewis & Co.'s Proxy Voting Policies and Procedures are set forth in Appendix A.

Information regarding how the Fund voted proxies (if any) relating to portfolio securities during the most recent 12-month period ended June 30 will be available upon request and without charge on the Fund's website at destracapital.com/strategies/literature, by calling 844-9DESTRA (933-7872) or by accessing the SEC's website at https://www.sec.gov.

### Administrator

UMB Fund Services, Inc. ("UMB") serves as administrator pursuant to a Fund Administration and Accounting Agreement between the Trust and UMB dated September 24, 2018, as amended. UMB, located at 235 W. Galena Street, Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53212, provides administrative services and valuation and computation services. The following table sets forth total administrative fees paid by the Fund for the specified period.

For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2020	\$ 45,337
For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2021	\$ 58,131
For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2022	\$ 61,679

### **Portfolio Transactions**

The Sub-Adviser is responsible for decisions to buy and sell securities for the Fund and for the placement of the Fund's securities business, the negotiation of the commissions to be paid on brokered transactions, the prices for principal trades in securities and the allocation of portfolio brokerage and principal business. It is the policy of the Sub-Adviser to seek the best execution at the best security price available with respect to each transaction, and with respect to brokered transactions, in light of the overall quality of brokerage and research services provided to the adviser and its advisees. The best price to the Fund means the best net price without regard to the mix between purchase or sale price and commission, if any. Purchases may be made from underwriters, dealers and, on occasion, the issuers. The purchase price of portfolio securities purchased from an underwriter or dealer may include underwriting commissions and dealer spreads. The Fund may pay markups on principal transactions. In selecting broker-dealers and in negotiating commissions, the portfolio manager considers, among other things, the firm's reliability, the quality of its execution services on a continuing basis and its financial condition. Brokerage will not be allocated based on the sale of the Fund's shares.

Section 28(e) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 permits an investment adviser, under certain circumstances, to cause an account to pay a broker or dealer who supplies brokerage and research services a commission for effecting the transaction in excess of the amount of commission another broker or dealer would have charged for effecting the transaction. Brokerage and research services include, but are not limited to, (a) furnishing advice as to the value of securities, the advisability of investing, purchasing or selling securities, and the availability of securities or purchasers or sellers of securities; (b) furnishing analyses and reports concerning issuers, industries, securities, economic factors and trends, portfolio strategy and the performance of accounts; and (c) effecting securities transactions and performing functions incidental thereto (such as clearance, settlement and custody).

In light of the above, in selecting brokers, the portfolio managers consider investment and market information and other research, such as economic, securities and performance measurement research, provided by such brokers, and the quality and reliability of brokerage services, including execution capability, performance and financial responsibility. Accordingly, the commissions charged by any such broker may be greater than the amount another firm might charge if the portfolio managers determine in good faith that the amount of such commissions is reasonable in relation to the value of the research information and brokerage services provided by such broker to the Sub-Adviser or the Fund. The Sub-Adviser believes that the research information received in this manner provides the Fund with benefits by supplementing the research otherwise available to the Fund. The Investment Management Agreement and the Sub-Advisory Agreement provide that such higher commissions will not be paid by the Fund unless the Sub-Adviser determines in good faith that the amount is reasonable in relation to the services provided. The investment advisory fees paid by the Fund to Destra under the Investment Management Agreement and the sub-advisory fees paid by Destra to the Sub-Adviser under the Sub-Advisory Agreement are not reduced as a result of receipt by either Destra or the Sub-Adviser of research services.

The Sub-Adviser places portfolio transactions for other advisory accounts managed by it. Research services furnished by firms through which the Fund effects its securities transactions may be used by the Sub-Adviser in servicing all of its accounts; not all of such services may be used by the Sub-Adviser in connection with the Fund. The Sub-Adviser believes it is not possible to measure separately the benefits from research services to each of the accounts (including the Fund) managed by it. Because the volume and nature of the trading activities of the accounts are not uniform, the amount of commissions in excess of those charged by another broker paid by each account for brokerage and research services will vary. However, the Sub-Adviser believes such costs to the Fund will not be disproportionate to the benefits received by the Fund on a continuing basis. The Sub-Adviser seeks to allocate portfolio transactions equitably whenever concurrent decisions are made to purchase or sell securities by the Fund and another advisory account. In some cases, this procedure could have an adverse effect on the price or the amount of securities available to the Fund. In making such allocations between the Fund and other advisory accounts, the main factors considered by the Sub-Adviser are the respective investment objectives, the relative size of portfolio holdings of the same or comparable securities, the availability of cash for investment and the size of investment commitments generally held.

The following table sets forth the aggregate amount of brokerage commissions paid by the Fund for the specified periods.

	-	9 9	
	An	Amount of Brokerage Commissions	
	Br		
	Com		
For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2020	\$	12,320	
For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2021	\$	17,596	
For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2022	\$	27,296	

Aggregate

During the fiscal year ended September 30, 2020, the Fund traded 580,960 shares, for a total amount traded of \$17,373,533, which resulted in \$12,320 in total commissions paid to brokers in return for research services. During the fiscal year ended September 30, 2021, the Fund traded 822,460 shares, for a total amount traded of \$28,102,576, which resulted in \$17,596 in total commissions paid to brokers in return for research services. During the fiscal year ended September 30, 2022, the Fund traded 1,245,789 shares, for a total amount traded of \$32,424,383, which resulted in \$27,296 in total commissions paid to brokers in return for research services.

Payments to financial intermediaries based on transactional charges may include the payment or reimbursement of all or a portion of "networking fees." Networking fees are fees charged to salespersons purchasing through a financial intermediary firm in connection with mutual fund purchases, redemptions or exchanges. The payment or reimbursement of networking fees creates an incentive for salespersons of an intermediary to sell shares of Destra Funds over shares of funds for which there is lesser or no payment or reimbursement of any applicable ticket charge. Destra and its affiliates consider a number of factors in making payments to financial intermediaries, including the distribution capabilities of the intermediary, the overall quality of the relationship, expected gross and/or net sales generated by the relationship, redemption and retention rates of assets held through the intermediary, the willingness of the intermediary to cooperate with Destra's marketing efforts, access to sales personnel and the anticipated profitability of sales through the institutional relationship. These factors may change from time to time.

As of the most recent fiscal year, the Fund did not pay networking fees to any broker-dealer firms with respect to the sale of Fund shares. The Fund is required to identify any securities of the Fund's regular broker-dealers (as defined in Rule 10b-1 under the 1940 Act) or their parents held by the Fund as of the end of the most recent fiscal year. During the Fund's most recent fiscal year, the Fund did not hold securities of its regular broker-dealers or their parents.

Under the 1940 Act, the Fund may not purchase portfolio securities from any underwriting syndicate of which the Distributor is a member except under certain limited conditions set forth in Rule 10f-3. The Rule sets forth requirements relating to, among other things, the terms of a security purchased by the Fund, the amount of securities that may be purchased in any one issue and the assets of the Fund that may be invested in a particular issue. All such transactions are reported to and reviewed by the Board on a regular basis.

#### **Net Asset Value**

As stated in the Fund's Prospectus, the net asset value ("NAV") of the shares of each class of the Fund is determined once each day the New York Stock Exchange (the "NYSE") is open, as of the close of its regular trading session (normally 4:00 p.m., New York time, Monday through Friday). The per share NAV for each class of the Fund is computed by dividing the total value of securities and other assets allocated to the class, less liabilities allocated to that class, by the total number of outstanding shares for the class. In determining NAV, securities listed on an Exchange, the Nasdaq National Market, and non-U.S. markets are generally valued at the closing sale prices on such markets. If such price is lacking for the trading period immediately preceding the time of determination, such securities are valued at their current bid price. Other securities that are traded on the OTC markets are generally valued at their closing bid prices. Non-U.S. securities and currencies are converted to U.S. dollars using the applicable exchange rate in effect at the close of the NYSE. The Fund will determine the market value of individual securities held by it by using prices provided by one or more professional pricing services which may provide market prices to other funds, or, as needed, by obtaining market quotations from independent broker-dealers. Short-term securities maturing within 60 days or less are valued on an amortized cost basis. Debt securities with a remaining maturity of greater than 60 days are valued in accordance with the evaluated bid price supplied by the pricing service is an evaluation that reflects such factors as security prices, yields, maturities, and ratings.

Securities for which market quotations are not readily available or are deemed unreliable are valued at fair value determined in good faith under procedures established by and under the supervision of the Board (the "Valuation Procedures"). Circumstances in which fair value pricing may be utilized include, but are not limited to: (i) a significant event that may affect the securities of a single issuer, such as a merger, bankruptcy, or significant issuer specific development; (ii) an event that may affect an entire market, such as a natural disaster or significant governmental action; (iii) a non-significant event such as a market closing early or not opening, or a security trading halt; and (iv) pricing of a non-valued security and a restricted or non-public security. The Fund may use a systematic fair valuation model provided by an independent third party to value international equity securities in order to adjust for stale pricing, which may occur between the close of certain non-U.S. exchanges and the NYSE. Trading in securities on European and Far Eastern securities exchanges and OTC markets is normally completed well before the close of business on each business day in New York (i.e., a day on which the NYSE is open). In addition, European or Far Eastern securities trading generally or in a particular country or countries may not take place on all business days in New York. Furthermore, trading takes place in Japanese markets on certain Saturdays and in various non-U.S. markets on days which are not business days in New York and on which the Fund's NAV is not calculated. The Fund calculates its NAV per share, and therefore effects sales, redemptions, and repurchases of its shares, as of the close of the NYSE once each day on which the NYSE is open. Such calculation may not take place contemporaneously with the determination of the prices of the non-U.S. portfolio securities used in such calculation. If an event that is expected to affect the value of a portfolio security occurs after the close of the Proc

To the extent there are any errors in the Fund's NAV calculation, Destra may, at its discretion, reprocess individual shareholder transactions so that each shareholder's account reflects the accurate corrected NAV.

#### Purchases

Shares of the Fund can generally be purchased only through institutional channels such as financial intermediaries and retirement platforms. Shares or classes of the Fund may be purchased without upfront sales charges by certain retirement plans and clients of investment advisers, but these clients will typically pay asset-based fees for their investment advisers' advice, which are on top of the Fund's expenses. Certain shares or classes of the Fund may also be purchased without upfront sales charges or transactional charges by persons who invest through mutual fund "supermarket" programs of certain financial intermediaries that typically do not provide investment recommendations or the assistance of an investment professional.

Certain designated organizations are authorized to receive purchase orders on the Fund's behalf, and those organizations are authorized to designate their agents and affiliates as intermediaries to receive purchase orders. Purchase orders are deemed received by the Fund when authorized organizations or their agents or affiliates receive the orders, provided that such designated organizations or their agents or affiliates transmit the orders to the Fund within contractually specified periods. The Fund is not responsible for the failure of any designated organization or its agents or affiliates to carry out its obligations to its customers. In order to receive a day's price, your order for any class of shares must be received in good order by the close of the regular trading session of the NYSE as described above in "Net Asset Value." Your financial intermediary may charge you a separate or additional fee for processing purchases of shares. Your financial intermediary, your plan documents or the Fund's Prospectus will provide you with detailed information about investing in the Fund.

The expenses to be borne by specific classes of shares may include (i) transfer agency fees attributable to a specific class of shares, (ii) printing and postage expenses related to preparing and distributing materials such as shareholder reports, prospectuses and proxy statements to current shareholders of a specific class of shares, (iii) SEC and state securities registration fees incurred by a specific class of shares, (iv) the expense of administrative personnel and services required to support the shareholders of a specific class of shares, (v) litigation or other legal expenses relating to a specific class of shares, (vi) directors' fees or expenses incurred as a result of issues relating to a specific class of shares, (vii) accounting expenses relating to a specific class of shares and (viii) any additional incremental expenses subsequently identified and determined to be properly allocated to one or more classes of shares.

The Trust has established an Anti-Money Laundering Compliance Program (the "Program") as required by the Uniting and Strengthening America by Providing Appropriate Tools Required to Intercept and Obstruct Terrorism Act of 2001 ("USA PATRIOT Act"). In order to ensure compliance with this law, the Trust's Program provides for the development of internal practices, procedures and controls, designation of anti-money laundering compliance officers, an ongoing training program and an independent audit function to determine the effectiveness of the Program.

Procedures to implement the Program include, but are not limited to, determining that financial intermediaries have established proper anti-money laundering procedures, reporting suspicious and/or fraudulent activity, checking shareholder names against designated government lists, including the Office of Foreign Asset Control, and performing a review of all new account applications. The Trust does not intend to transact business with any person or entity whose identity cannot be adequately verified under the provisions of the USA PATRIOT Act.

The Fund does not issue share certificates. Shares will be registered in the name of the investor or the investor's financial adviser. A change in registration or transfer of shares held in the name of a financial adviser may only be made by an order in good form from the financial adviser acting on the investor's behalf.

### Class A Shares

The price you pay for Class A shares is the public offering price, which is the NAV next determined after the Fund or its agent receives in good form your order plus an initial sales charge, if applicable, based on the amount invested as set forth in the table. The Fund receives the NAV. The sales charge is allocated between your financial intermediary and the Distributor, as shown in the table, except where the Distributor, in its discretion, allocates up to the entire amount to your financial intermediary. Sales charges, expressed as a percentage of offering price, your net investment and the sales charge reallowed to financial intermediaries, are shown in the table. The dollar amount of your initial sales charge is calculated as the difference between the public offering price and the NAV of those shares. Since the offering price is calculated to two decimal places using standard rounding criteria, the number of shares purchased and the dollar amount of your sales charge as a percentage of the offering price and of your net investment may be higher or lower than the amounts set forth in the table depending on whether there was a downward or upward rounding. Although you pay no initial sales charge on purchases of \$1,000,000 or more, the Distributor may pay, from its own resources, a commission to your financial intermediary on such investments.

	Class A Shares Sales Charge as a Percentage of:		
			Amount of
			Sales Charge
			Reallowed to
			Financial
			Intermediaries as a Percentage
	Offering	Net Amount	of Offering
Amount of Purchase at Offering Price	Price <sup>(1)</sup>	Invested	Price
Under \$100,000	4.50%	4.71%	4.00%
\$100,000 but under \$250,000	3.75%	3.90%	3.25%
\$250,000 but under \$500,000	2.75%	2.83%	2.25%
\$500,000 but under \$1,000,000	2.25%	2.30%	1.75%
\$1,000,000 and above	None	None	None

<sup>(1)</sup> Offering Price includes the initial sales charge.

Below is an example of the method of computing the offering price of Class A shares of the Fund. The example assumes a purchase on September 30, 2022 of Class A shares of the Fund subject to the schedule of sales charges set forth in the Prospectus at a price based upon the NAV of the Class A shares.

NAV per share	\$ 9.90
Per share sales charge: 4.50% of public offering price (4.71% of NAV per share)	\$ 0.47
Per share offering price to the public	\$ 10.37

As described in the Prospectus, there are several ways you can combine multiple purchases of Class A shares of the Fund and other Destra Funds that are offered with a sales charge to take advantage of lower sales charges.

## Qualifying for a Reduction or Waiver of Class A Shares Sales Charge

You may be able to lower or eliminate your sales charge on Class A shares under certain circumstances. For example, when purchasing new Class A shares, you can combine Class A shares you already own (either in the Fund or in certain other Destra Funds) with your current purchase to take advantage of the breakpoints in the sales charge schedule as set forth above. The circumstances under which you may combine such ownership of shares and purchases are described below. If you would like more information on aggregating shares to take advantage of the breakpoints, please contact your financial intermediary. In addition, additional sales charge reductions and waivers may be available. However, the availability of such waivers and reductions will depend on the policies of the financial intermediary through which you purchase your shares. Information on intermediaries' variations from the reductions and waivers discussed below are disclosed in the appendix to the Fund's Prospectus.

Class A shares of the Fund may be purchased without an initial sales charge by the following persons (and their spouses and children under 21 years of age): (i) registered representatives and other employees of intermediaries that have selling agreements with the Distributor to sell Class A shares; (ii) directors, officers and employees of Destra Capital Management LLC, and their immediate family members, and its affiliates; and (iii) Trustees and officers, and their immediate family members, of the Fund. Immediate family members are defined as spouses or domestic partners, parents, children, grandparents, grandchildren, parents-in-law, sons-in-law and daughters-in-law, sibling's spouse and a spouse's siblings. Additionally, certain financial intermediaries have entered into an agreement with the Distributor that allows the waiver of the initial sales charge on purchases of Class A shares. In order to obtain a sales charge discount, you should inform your financial intermediary of other accounts in which there are Fund holdings eligible to be aggregated to meet a sales charge breakpoint. These other accounts may include the accounts described under "Aggregating Accounts." It is possible that your financial intermediary will require documentation, such as an account statement, to prove that the accounts are eligible for aggregation. The Letter of Intent described below requires historical cost information in certain circumstances. You should retain records necessary to show the price you paid to purchase Fund shares, as the Fund, its agents or your financial intermediary may not retain this information.

Right of Accumulation. You may purchase Class A shares of the Fund at a reduced sales charge determined by aggregating the dollar amount of the new purchase (measured by the offering price) and the total prior day's NAV (net amount invested) of all eligible shares (as set forth herein) and applying the sales charge applicable to such aggregate amount. Shares eligible for aggregation include Class A shares of the Fund and of certain other classes (Class A shares) of Destra Funds then held by you, or held in accounts identified under "Aggregating Accounts." In order for your purchases and holdings to be aggregated for purposes of qualifying for such discount, they must have been made through one financial intermediary, and you must provide sufficient information to your financial intermediary at the time of initial purchase of shares that qualify for the right of accumulation to permit verification that the purchase qualifies for the reduced sales charge. The right of accumulation is subject to modification or discontinuance at any time with respect to all shares purchased thereafter.

Letter of Intent. You can also reduce the sales charge on the purchase of Class A shares by signing a Letter of Intent indicating your intention to purchase \$100,000 or more of Class A shares (including Class A shares in other series of the Destra Funds) over a 13-month period. The term of the Letter of Intent will commence upon the date you sign the Letter. In order to apply purchases toward the intended amount, you must refer to such Letter when placing all orders.

When calculating the applicable sales charge to a purchase pursuant to a Letter of Intent, the amount of investment for purposes of applying the sales load schedule includes: (i) the historical cost (what you actually paid for the shares at the time of purchase, including any sales charges) of all Class A shares acquired during the term of the Letter of Intent; minus (ii) the value of any redemptions of Class A shares made during the term of the Letter of Intent. Each investment made during the period receives the reduced sales charge applicable to the total amount of the investment goal. A portion of shares purchased may be held in escrow to pay for any applicable sales charge. If the goal is not achieved within the period, you must pay the difference between the sales charges applicable to the purchases made and the charges previously paid, or an appropriate number of escrowed shares will be redeemed. Please contact your financial intermediary to obtain a Letter of Intent application.

Aggregating Accounts. In calculating the applicable breakpoint and sales charge on large purchases or those made through the exercise of a Letter of Intent or right of accumulation, investments made by you (and your spouse and children under age 21) on any given day may be aggregated if made for your own account(s) and/or certain other accounts such as trust accounts established by the above individuals (or the accounts of the primary beneficiary of the trust if the person who established the trust is deceased), solely controlled business accounts and single-participant retirement plans. To receive a reduced sales charge under the right of accumulation or a Letter of Intent, you must notify your financial intermediary of any eligible accounts that you, your spouse and your children under age 21 have at the time of your purchase.

You may access information regarding sales loads, breakpoint discounts and purchases of the Fund's shares, free of charge, and in a clear and prominent format, on our website at destracapital.com and by following the appropriate hyperlinks to the specific information.

## Class I Shares

Class I shares of the Fund are purchased at the NAV per share as determined at the close of the regular trading session of the NYSE next occurring after a purchase order is received in good order by the Fund or its authorized agent.

### Distribution and Shareholder Servicing Plan

#### Class A Shares

As described in the Prospectus, Class A shares have adopted a distribution and shareholder servicing plan (the "Plan") in accordance with Rule 12b-1 under the 1940 Act. The Plan is a compensation-type plan and permits the payment at an annual rate of up to 0.25% of the average daily net assets of Class A shares of the Fund for activities that are primarily intended to result in the sale and/or shareholder servicing of Class A shares of the Fund, including, but not limited to, printing and delivering prospectuses, statements of additional information, shareholder reports, proxy statements and marketing materials related to Class A shares to prospective and existing investors; providing educational materials regarding Class A shares; providing facilities to answer questions from prospective and existing investors about the Fund; receiving and answering correspondence; complying with federal and state securities laws pertaining to the sale of Class A shares; assisting investors in completing application forms and selecting dividend and other account options; and any other activities for which "service fees" may be paid under Rule 2830 of the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority, Inc. Conduct Rules. Payments under the Plan are not tied exclusively to actual distribution and shareholder service expenses, and the payments may exceed distribution and shareholder service expenses actually incurred. The Distributor authorizes the payments to financial intermediaries based on the value of Fund shares held by such intermediaries' customers.

### 12b-1 Fees Incurred

During the fiscal year ended September 30, 2022, the Fund incurred 12b-1 fees pursuant to the Plan in the amount set forth in the table below.

12b-1 Fees
Incurred by the
Fund
for the
Fiscal Year
Ended
September 30,
2022
\$ 21,487

Class A

### Renewal, Amendment and Termination

The Plan and any Rule 12b-1-related agreement that is entered into by the Fund in connection with the Plan will continue in effect for a period of more than one year only so long as continuance is specifically approved at least annually by a vote of a majority of the trustees, and of a majority of the trustees who are not interested persons (as defined in the 1940 Act) of the Trust and who have no direct or indirect financial interest in the operation of the Plan or any related agreements ("12b-1 Trustees"). With the exception of the Distributor and its affiliates, no "interested person" of the Fund, as that term is defined in the 1940 Act, and no Trustee of the Fund has a direct or indirect financial interest in the operation of the Plan or any related agreement. All material amendments to the Plan must be approved by a majority vote of the trustees, including a majority of the 12b-1 Trustees, at a meeting called for that purpose. In addition, the Plan may be terminated as to the Fund at any time, without penalty, by vote of a majority of the outstanding shares of the Class A shares of the Fund or by vote of a majority of the Trustees.

## Redemptions

Redemptions, like purchases, may generally be effected only through institutional channels such as financial intermediaries and retirement platforms. In certain circumstances, Class I shares may be redeemed directly with the Fund. Certain designated organizations are authorized to receive redemption orders on the Fund's behalf, and those organizations are authorized to designate their agents and affiliates as intermediaries to receive redemption orders. Redemption orders are deemed received by the Fund when authorized organizations or their agents or affiliates receive the order. The Fund is not responsible for the failure of any designated organization or its agents or affiliates to carry out its obligations to its customers.

Shares normally will be redeemed for cash, although the Fund retains the right to redeem some or all of its shares in-kind under unusual circumstances, in order to protect the interests of remaining shareholders, to accommodate a request by a particular shareholder that does not adversely affect the interests of the remaining shareholders, or in connection with the liquidation of the Fund, by delivery of securities selected from its assets at its discretion. If shares are redeemed in-kind, the redeeming shareholder may incur brokerage costs in converting the assets to cash. The method of valuing securities used to make redemptions in-kind will be the same as the method of valuing portfolio securities described under "Net Asset Value," and such valuation will be made as of the same time the redemption price is determined.

The Fund reserves the right to postpone payment of redemption proceeds for up to seven calendar days. Additionally, the right to require the Fund to redeem its shares may be suspended, or the date of payment may be postponed beyond seven calendar days, whenever: (i) trading on the NYSE is restricted, as determined by the SEC, or the NYSE is closed (except for holidays and weekends); (ii) the SEC permits such suspension and so orders; or (iii) an emergency exists as determined by the SEC so that disposal of securities or determination of NAV is not reasonably practicable.

### **Processing or Service Fees**

Broker-dealers may charge their customers a processing or service fee in connection with the purchase or redemption of Fund shares. Each individual dealer determines and should disclose to its customers the amount and applicability of such a fee. Processing or service fees typically are fixed, nominal dollar amounts and are in addition to the sales and other charges described in the Prospectus and this SAI. Consult your broker-dealer for specific information about any processing or service fees you may be charged.

### Tax Matters

#### Federal Income Tax Matters

This section summarizes some of the main U.S. federal income tax consequences of owning shares of the Fund. This section is current as of the date of this SAI. Tax laws and interpretations change frequently, and these summaries do not describe all of the tax consequences to all taxpayers. For example, these summaries generally do not describe your situation if you are a corporation, a non-U.S. person, broker-dealer or other investor with special circumstances. In addition, this section does not describe your state, local or non-U.S. tax consequences.

This federal income tax summary is based in part on the advice of counsel to the Fund. The Internal Revenue Service could disagree with any conclusions set forth in this section. In addition, the Fund's counsel was not asked to review, and has not reached a conclusion with respect to, the federal income tax treatment of the assets to be deposited in the Fund. Consequently, these summaries may not be sufficient for you to use for the purpose of avoiding penalties under federal tax law.

As with any investment, you should seek advice based on your individual circumstances from your own tax adviser.

#### **Fund Status**

The Fund intends to qualify as a "regulated investment company" under the federal tax laws. If the Fund qualifies as a regulated investment company and distributes its income as required by the tax law, the Fund generally will not pay federal income taxes.

# Qualification as a Regulated Investment Company

As a regulated investment company, the Fund will not be subject to federal income tax on the portion of its investment company taxable income, as that term is defined in the Code, without regard to the deduction for dividends paid and net capital gain (i.e., the excess of net long-term capital gain over net short-term capital loss) that it distributes to shareholders, provided that it distributes at least 90% of its investment company taxable income and 90% of its net tax-exempt interest income for the year (the "Distribution Requirement") and satisfies certain other requirements of the Code that are generally described below. The Fund also intends to make such distributions as are necessary to avoid the otherwise applicable 4% non-deductible excise tax on certain undistributed earnings.

In addition to satisfying the Distribution Requirement, the Fund must, among other things, derive in each taxable year at least 90% of its gross income from (1) dividends, interest, certain payments with respect to loans of stock and securities, gains from the sale or disposition of stock, securities or non-U.S. currencies and other income (including but not limited to gains from options, futures or forward contracts) derived with respect to its business of investing in such stock, securities or currencies, and (2) net income derived from an interest in "qualified publicly traded partnerships" (as such term is defined in the Code). The Fund must also satisfy an asset diversification test in order to qualify as a regulated investment company. Under this test, at the close of each quarter of the Fund's taxable year, (1) 50% or more of the value of the Fund's assets must be represented by cash, U.S. Government Securities, securities of other regulated investment companies, and other securities, with such other securities limited, in respect of any one issuer, to an amount not greater than 5% of the value of the Fund's assets and 10% of the outstanding voting securities of such issuer and (2) not more than 25% of the value of the Fund's assets may be invested in securities of (a) any one issuer (other than U.S. Government Securities or securities of other regulated investment companies), or of two or more issuers which the Fund controls and which are engaged in the same, similar or related trades or businesses or (b) in the securities of one or more "qualified publicly traded partnerships" (as such term is defined in the Code). There are certain exceptions for failure to qualify if the failure is for reasonable cause or is *de minimis*, and certain corrective action is taken and certain tax payments are made by the Fund.

#### Distributions

Fund distributions are generally taxable. After the end of each year, you will receive a tax statement that separates the Fund's distributions into two categories, ordinary income distributions and capital gains dividends. Ordinary income distributions are generally taxed at your ordinary tax rate; however, as further discussed below, certain ordinary income distributions received from the Fund may be taxed at the capital gains tax rates or the shareholder may be eligible for a 20% deduction with respect to such dividends. Generally, you will treat all capital gains dividends as long-term capital gains regardless of how long you have owned your shares. Some capital gains dividends may be taxed at a maximum stated tax rate of 25% or 28%. To determine your actual tax liability for your capital gains dividends, you must calculate your total net capital gain or loss for the tax year after considering all of your other taxable transactions, as described below. In addition, the Fund may make distributions that represent a return of capital for tax purposes and thus will generally not be immediately taxable to you. The tax status of your distributions from the Fund is not affected by whether you reinvest your distributions in additional shares or receive them in cash. The income from the Fund that you must take into account for federal income tax purposes is not reduced by amounts used to pay a deferred sales fee, if any. The tax laws may require you to treat distributions made to you in January as if you had received them on December 31 of the previous year. Income from the Fund may also be subject to a 3.8% "Medicare tax." This tax generally applies to your net investment income if your adjusted gross income exceeds certain threshold amounts, which are \$250,000 in the case of married couples filing joint returns and \$200,000 in the case of single individuals.

### **Dividends Received Deduction**

A corporation that owns shares generally will not be entitled to the dividends received deduction with respect to many dividends received from the Fund because the dividends received deduction is generally only available for distributions from regulated investment companies that are attributable to qualifying dividends received by the Fund from certain corporations may be reported by the Fund as being eligible for the dividends received deduction. Other distributions made by the Fund are not treated as dividends eligible for the dividends received deduction

## Sale or Redemption of Shares

If you sell or redeem your shares, you will generally recognize a taxable gain or loss. To determine the amount of this gain or loss, you must subtract your tax basis in your shares from the amount you receive in the transaction. Your tax basis in your shares is generally equal to the cost of your shares, generally including sales charges. In some cases, however, you may have to adjust your tax basis after you purchase your shares.

### Capital Gains and Losses and Certain Ordinary Income Dividends

If you are an individual, the maximum marginal stated federal tax rate for net capital gain is generally 20% for taxpayers in the highest tax bracket. Capital gains may also be subject to the Medicare tax described above. Some portion of your capital gains dividends may be taxed at a higher stated tax rate. Net capital gain equals net long-term capital gain minus net short-term capital loss for the taxable year. Capital gain or loss is long-term if the holding period for the asset is more than one year and is short-term if the holding period for the asset is one year or less. You must exclude the date you purchase your shares to determine your holding period. However, if you receive a capital gains dividend from the Fund and sell your share at a loss after holding it for six months or less, the loss will be recharacterized as long-term capital loss to the extent of the capital gains dividend received. The tax rates for capital gains realized from assets held for one year or less are generally the same as for ordinary income. The Code treats certain capital gains as ordinary income in special situations.

Distributions of certain dividend income received by an individual shareholder from a regulated investment company such as the Fund are generally taxed at the same rates that apply to net capital gain (as discussed above), provided certain holding period requirements are satisfied and provided the dividends are attributable to qualified dividends received by the Fund itself. In addition, to the extent the Fund designates dividends it pays to its shareholders as "section 199A dividends" such shareholder may be eligible for a 20% deduction with respect to such dividends. The amount of section 199A dividends that the Fund may pay and report to its shareholders is limited to the excess of the ordinary REIT dividends, other than capital gain dividends and portions of REIT dividends designated as qualified dividend income, that the Fund receives from REITs for a taxable year over the Fund's expenses allocable to such dividends. The Fund will provide notice to its shareholders of the amount of any distribution which may be taken into account as a dividend which is eligible for the capital gains tax rates or as section 199A dividends.

### In-Kind Distributions

Under certain circumstances, as described in the Prospectus, you may receive an in-kind distribution of Fund securities when you redeem shares or when the Fund terminates. This distribution will be treated as a sale for federal income tax purposes and you will generally recognize gain or loss, generally based on the value at that time of the securities and the amount of cash received. The Internal Revenue Service could, however, assert that a loss could not be currently deducted.

### **Exchanges**

If you exchange shares of the Fund for shares of another Destra Fund, the exchange would generally be considered a sale for federal income tax purposes. Under limited circumstances, exchanges between certain classes of shares of the same Fund may be permitted. Such exchanges may be subject to a contingent deferred sales charge ("CDSC"), a redemption fee or other fees, at the discretion of the Fund. Any CDSC, redemption fee or other fees may be waived for certain intermediaries that have entered into an agreement with Destra Capital Investments.

### **Deductibility of Fund Expenses**

Expenses incurred and deducted by the Fund will generally not be treated as income taxable to you. In some cases, however, you may be required to treat your portion of these Fund expenses as income. In these cases, you may not be able to take a deduction for these expenses.

## Foreign Tax Credit

If the Fund invests in any non-U.S. securities, the tax statement that you receive may include an item showing foreign taxes the Fund paid to other countries. In this case, dividends taxed to you will include your share of the taxes the Fund paid to other countries. You may be able to deduct or receive a tax credit for your share of these taxes.

### **Investments in Certain Non-U.S. Corporations**

If the Fund holds an equity interest in any "passive foreign investment companies" ("PFICs"), which are generally certain foreign corporations that receive at least 75% of their annual gross income from passive sources (such as interest, dividends, certain rents and royalties or capital gains) or hold at least 50% of their assets in investments producing such passive income, the Fund could be subject to U.S. federal income tax and additional interest charges on gains and certain distributions with respect to those equity interests, even if all the income or gain is timely distributed to its shareholders. The Fund will not be able to pass through to its shareholders any credit or deduction for such taxes. The Fund may be able to make an election that could ameliorate these adverse tax consequences. In this case, the Fund would recognize as ordinary income any increase in the value of such PFIC shares, and as ordinary loss any decrease in such value to the extent it did not exceed prior increases included in income. Under this election, the Fund might be required to recognize in a year income in excess of its distributions from PFICs and its proceeds from dispositions of PFIC stock during that year, and such income would nevertheless be subject to the distribution requirement and would be taken into account for purposes of the 4% excise tax. Dividends paid by PFICs are not treated as qualified dividend income.

### Non-U.S. Investors

If you are a non-U.S. investor (*i.e.*, an investor other than a U.S. citizen or resident or a U.S. corporation, partnership, estate or trust), you should be aware that, generally, subject to applicable tax treaties, distributions from the Fund will be characterized as dividends for federal income tax purposes (other than dividends which the Fund properly reports as capital gains dividends) and will be subject to U.S. income taxes, including withholding taxes, subject to certain exceptions described below. However, distributions received by a non-U.S. investor from the Fund that are properly reported by the Fund as capital gains dividends may not be subject to U.S. federal income taxes, including withholding taxes, provided that the Fund makes certain elections and certain other conditions are met. Distributions from the Fund that are properly reported by the Fund as an interest-related dividend attributable to certain net short-term capital gain income received by the Fund may not be subject to U.S. federal income taxes, including withholding taxes when received by certain foreign investors, provided that the Fund makes certain elections and certain other conditions are met. Certain distributions may be subject to a U.S. withholding tax of 30% in the case of distributions to (i) certain non-U.S. financial institutions that have not entered into an agreement with the U.S. Treasury to collect and disclose certain information and are not resident in a jurisdiction that has entered into such an agreement with the U.S. Treasury and (ii) certain other non-U.S. entities that do not provide certain certifications and information about the entity's U.S. owners.

### Capital Loss Carryforward

Under the Regulated Investment Company Modernization Act of 2010, net capital losses of the Fund may be carried forward indefinitely, and their character is retained as short-term and/or long-term losses. To the extent that these loss carryforwards are used to offset future capital gains, it is probable that the capital gains so offset will not be distributed to Fund shareholders. The Fund is subject to certain limitations, under U.S. tax rules, on the use of capital loss carryforwards and net unrealized built-in losses. These limitations apply when there has been a 50% or more change in ownership. As of September 30, 2022, the Fund had the following accumulated capital loss carry forward for federal income tax purposes.

Short-Term Capital Loss Carryforward	Long-Term Capital Loss Carryforward
\$21,530	<b>\$</b> -

33

### **Frequent Trading**

The Fund's Frequent Trading Policy is as follows:

Frequent purchases and redemptions of Fund shares by Fund shareholders may present risks to other shareholders in the Fund. These risks may include disruption of portfolio investment strategies, with potential resulting harm to performance, and increased trading costs or Fund expenses. Therefore, the Board needs to assess whether it is in the best interests of the Fund, overall, to limit individual shareholders' rights to engage in frequent purchases and redemption of Fund shares.

The Fund is designed for long-term investors and is not designed for shareholders who engage in frequent purchases and redemption of Fund shares. These Frequent Trading Policies and Procedures endeavor to detect and deter frequent trading that may be harmful to shareholders, and that is pursued for the purpose of attempting to profit from anticipated short-term market moves up or down ("market timing").

(1) General. The Fund discourages and has established policies and procedures designed to detect and deter frequent trading by investors that is believed to be engaged in for the purpose of market timing.

Shares of the Fund may be held through accounts held in the name of a financial intermediary. These accounts may be comprised of multiple investors whose purchases and redemptions are aggregated and netted before being submitted to the Fund. The Fund may not have access to information regarding trading activity by individual investors in such accounts and therefore may be unable to monitor individual investors for violations of the Fund's policy. The Fund or its agents will seek to have financial intermediaries either provide the necessary individual investor information to the Fund or monitor the trading activity of the individual investors to detect and deter market timing.

(2) Restrictions on Purchases and Redemptions. The Fund reserves the right to reject or restrict any purchase order (including exchanges) from any investor for any reason including excessive, short-term or other abusive trading practices that may disrupt portfolio management strategies and harm performance. The Fund may, at Destra's sole discretion, exercise these rights for any reason, including any trading believed to fall within the definition of market timing.

The Fund also reserves the right to delay delivery of redemption proceeds up to seven days or to honor certain redemptions with securities, rather than cash.

(3) Agreements. The Fund, Destra or the Distributor may not enter into any agreement, either explicit or implicit, with any Fund shareholder or other investor that would permit or facilitate market timing in the Fund.

The Fund directs Destra to establish specific procedures to detect and deter market timing in order to implement the foregoing policies. Under those procedures, Destra shall establish procedures for (i) identifying and reviewing potentially harmful trading activity in direct and omnibus accounts, (ii) identifying transactions subject to sales charges and exceptions to those policies, and (iii) reporting potential issues and exceptions to the Fund's CCO. If Destra determines that frequent trading in any account is due to market timing, Destra, on behalf of the Fund, may reject the purchase or impose restrictions on future purchases or exchanges from that investor until such investor no longer engages in market timing. Destra must document and maintain all records in connection with its procedures for six years. Destra will advise the Board of any material changes to its procedures and will periodically report its activities pursuant to these Frequent Trading Policies and Procedures to the Trust's CCO. The Trust's CCO will periodically report to the Board on the effectiveness of these Policies and Procedures.

#### Underwriter

The Distributor, located at 443 N. Willson Ave., Bozeman, MT, 59715, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Destra Capital Management LLC, serves as the principal underwriter of the shares of the Fund pursuant to a "best efforts" arrangement as provided by a distribution agreement with the Trust (the "Distribution Agreement"). Pursuant to the Distribution Agreement, the Trust appointed the Distributor to be its agent for the distribution of the Fund's shares on a continuous offering basis. The cash-compensation rate at which the Distributor's registered representatives are paid for sales of institutional products may differ based on a type of fund or a specific trust. The receipt of (or prospect of receiving) compensation described above may provide an incentive for a registered representative to favor sales of funds, or certain share classes of the Fund, for which it receives a higher compensation rate. You should consider these arrangements when evaluating any recommendations of your registered representative.

The Distributor sells shares to or through brokers, dealers, banks or other qualified financial intermediaries (collectively referred to as "Dealers"), or others, in a manner consistent with the then effective registration statement of the Trust for the Fund. Pursuant to the Distribution Agreement, the Distributor, at its own expense, finances certain activities incident to the sale and distribution of the Fund's Shares, including printing and distributing of prospectuses and statements of additional information to other than existing shareholders, the printing and distributing of sales literature, advertising and payment of compensation and giving of concessions to Dealers. The Distributor receives for its services the excess, if any, of the sales price of the Fund's Shares less the NAV of those Shares, and remits a majority or all of such amounts to the Dealers who sold the Shares; the Distributor may act as such a Dealer. The Distributor also receives compensation pursuant to a distribution plan adopted by the Trust pursuant to Rule 12b-1 and described herein under "Distribution and Shareholder Servicing Plans." The Distributor receives CDSCs imposed on redemptions of Shares, but any amounts as to which a reinstatement privilege is not exercised are set off against and reduce amounts otherwise payable to the Distributor pursuant to the distribution plan.

The following table sets forth the aggregate amounts of underwriting commissions with respect to the sale of Fund shares, the amount thereof retained by the Distributor for the Fund for the specified periods.

			A	mount
	Amount of		Retained	
	Underwriting		by the	
	Commissions		Distributor	
For fiscal year ended September 30, 2020	\$	97,618	\$	12,753
For fiscal year ended September 30, 2021	\$	95,201	\$	13,020
For fiscal year ended September 30, 2022	\$	55,190	\$	7,473

Destra may, from time to time and from its own resources, pay, defray or absorb costs relating to distribution, including payments out of its own resources to the Distributor, or to otherwise promote the sale of Shares. Destra's available resources to make these payments include profits from advisory fees received from the Fund. The services Destra may pay for include, but are not limited to, advertising and attaining access to certain conferences and seminars, as well as being presented with the opportunity to address investors and industry professionals through speeches and written marketing materials.

# **Disclosure of Portfolio Holdings**

The Destra Funds have adopted a portfolio holdings disclosure policy that governs the dissemination of the Fund's portfolio holdings and to ensure that the disclosure of information is in the best interests of the Fund Shareholders. In accordance with this policy, the Fund may provide portfolio holdings information to third parties no earlier than the time a report is filed with the SEC that is required to contain such information or one day after the information is posted on the Fund's publicly accessible website, destracapital.com. The Fund's top 10 portfolio holdings or issuer information is available monthly with a minimum lag time of 10 calendar days. The Fund provides other portfolio information (including percentages and other portfolio data and portfolio statistics) monthly with a minimum lag time of 10 calendar days. Additionally, the Fund generally makes available complete portfolio holdings (or other disclosure of portfolio holdings as required by applicable legal or regulatory requirements) as of the end of each fiscal quarter disclosed with a minimum lag time of 30 calendar days. This information will remain available on the website at least until the Fund files with the SEC its Forms N-CSR or N-PORT for the period that includes the date as of which the website information is current.

Additionally, the Fund may disclose portfolio holdings information that has not been included in a filing with the SEC or posted on the Fund's website (*i.e.*, non-public portfolio holdings information) only if there is a legitimate business purpose for doing so and if the recipient is required, either by explicit agreement or by virtue of the recipient's duties to the Fund as an agent or service provider, to maintain the confidentiality of the information and to not use the information in an improper manner (*e.g.*, personal trading). In this connection, the Fund may disclose on an ongoing, daily basis non-public portfolio holdings information in the normal course of its investment and administrative operations to various service providers, including its Adviser and Sub-Adviser, independent registered public accounting firm (Cohen & Company, Ltd), custodian (UMB Bank National Association), and financial printer (Empire Filings and Toppan Merrill), to proxy voting service(s), legal counsel to the Fund (Faegre Drinker Biddle & Reath LLP) and legal counsel to the Independent Trustees (Moye White LLP).

The Fund's Adviser and Sub-Adviser may also provide certain portfolio holdings information to broker-dealers from time to time in connection with the purchase or sale of securities or requests for price quotations or bids on one or more securities. In providing this information, reasonable precautions are taken in an effort to avoid potential misuse of the disclosed information, including limitations on the scope of the portfolio holdings information disclosed, when appropriate.

Non-public portfolio holdings information may be provided to other persons if approved by the Board upon a determination that there is a legitimate business purpose for doing so, the disclosure is consistent with the interests of the Fund and the recipient is obligated to maintain the confidentiality of the information and not misuse it.

Compliance officers of the Fund and its Adviser and Sub-Adviser periodically monitor overall compliance with the policy to ascertain whether portfolio holdings information is disclosed in a manner that is consistent with the Fund's policy. Reports are made to the Board on an annual basis.

There is no assurance that the Fund's policies on portfolio holdings information will protect the Fund from the potential misuse of portfolio holdings information by individuals or firms in possession of such information.

# Other Service Providers

Cohen & Company, Ltd., 151 N. Franklin Street, Suite 575, Chicago, Illinois 60606, independent registered public accounting firm, has been selected as auditors for the Trust. In addition to audit services, Cohen & Company, Ltd. may provide assistance on other non-audit accounting, tax and related services for the Trust.

The custodian of the assets of the Fund is UMB Bank N.A., 1010 Grand Boulevard, Kansas City, Missouri 64106. The custodian performs custodial services.

The Fund's administrator, fund accountant, transfer agent, shareholder services and dividend paying agent is UMB Fund Services Inc., 235 W. Galena Street, Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53212.

### **General Trust Information**

The Fund is a series of the Trust. The Trust is an open-end management investment company under the 1940 Act. The Trust was organized as a Massachusetts business trust on May 25, 2010. The Board of Trustees of the Trust is authorized to issue an unlimited number of shares in one or more series, which may be divided into classes of shares. Currently, there are two series authorized and outstanding, each of which may be generally divided into different classes of shares designated as Class A shares, and Class I shares. Each class of shares represents an interest in the same portfolio of investments of the Fund. Each class of shares has equal rights as to voting, redemption, dividends and liquidation, except that each bears different class expenses, including different distribution and service fees, and each has exclusive voting rights with respect to any distribution or service plan applicable to its shares. There are no conversion, preemptive or other subscription rights. The Board of Trustees of the Trust has the right to establish additional series and classes of shares in the future, to change those series or classes and to determine the preferences, voting powers, rights and privileges thereof. The Fund does not offer Class C shares.

The Trust is not required and does not intend to hold annual meetings of shareholders. Shareholders owning more than 10% of the outstanding shares of the Fund have the right to call a special meeting to remove trustees or for any other purpose.

Under Massachusetts law applicable to Massachusetts business trusts, shareholders of such a trust may, under certain circumstances, be held personally liable as partners for its obligations. However, the Declaration of Trust of the Trust contains an express disclaimer of shareholder liability for acts or obligations of the Trust and requires that notice of this disclaimer be given in each agreement, obligation or instrument entered into or executed by the Trust or the trustees. The Trust's Declaration of Trust further provides for indemnification out of the assets and property of the Trust for all losses and expenses of any shareholder held personally liable for the obligations of the Trust. Thus, the risk of a shareholder incurring financial loss on account of shareholder liability is limited to circumstances in which both inadequate insurance existed and the Trust or the Fund itself was unable to meet its obligations. The Trust believes the likelihood of the occurrence of these circumstances is remote.

### APPENDIX A

### **Proxy Voting Procedure**

### U.S. Guidelines

#### Election of Directors

The purpose of Glass Lewis' proxy research and advice is to facilitate shareholder voting in favor of governance structures that will drive performance, create shareholder value and maintain a proper tone at the top. Glass Lewis looks for talented boards with a record of protecting shareholders and delivering value over the medium- and long-term. Glass Lewis believes that boards working to protect and enhance the best interests of shareholders are independent, have directors with diverse backgrounds, have a record of positive performance, and have members with a breadth and depth of relevant experience.

### Auditor Ratification

Glass Lewis generally supports management's choice of auditor except when Glass Lewis believes the auditor's independence or audit integrity has been compromised. Where a board has not allowed shareholders to review and ratify an auditor, Glass Lewis typically recommends voting against the audit committee chairman. When there have been material restatements of annual financial statements or material weakness in internal controls, Glass Lewis usually recommends voting against the entire audit committee.

### Executive Compensation

Glass Lewis carefully reviews the compensation awarded to senior executives, as it believes that this is an important area in which the board's priorities are revealed. Glass Lewis strongly believes executive compensation should be linked directly with the performance of the business the executive is charged with managing. Glass Lewis believes the most effective compensation arrangements provide for an appropriate mix of performance-based short- and long-term incentives in addition to base salary.

Glass Lewis believes that comprehensive, timely and transparent disclosure of executive pay is critical to allowing shareholders to evaluate the extent to which the pay is keeping pace with company performance. When reviewing proxy materials, Glass Lewis examines whether the company discloses the performance metrics used to determine executive compensation. Glass Lewis recognizes performance metrics must necessarily vary depending on the company and industry, among other factors, and may include items such as total shareholder return, earning per share growth, return on equity, return on assets and revenue growth. However, Glass Lewis believes companies should disclose why the specific performance metrics were selected and how the actions they are designed to incentivize will lead to better corporate performance.

Moreover, Glass Lewis believes that it is rarely in shareholders' interests to disclose competitive data about individual salaries below the senior executive level. Such disclosure could create internal personnel discord that would be counterproductive for the company and its shareholders. While Glass Lewis favors full disclosure for senior executives and it views pay disclosure at the aggregate level (e.g., the number of employees being paid over a certain amount or in certain categories) as potentially useful, Glass Lewis does not believe shareholders need or will benefit from detailed reports about individual management employees other than the most senior executives.

# Anti-Takeover Measures

Glass Lewis believes that poison pill plans are not generally in shareholders' best interests. They can reduce management accountability by substantially limiting opportunities for corporate takeovers. Rights plans can thus prevent shareholders from receiving a buy-out premium for their stock. Typically Glass Lewis recommends that shareholders vote against these plans to protect their financial interests and ensure that they have an opportunity to consider any offer for their shares, especially those at a premium. In certain circumstances, Glass Lewis will support a poison pill that is limited in scope to accomplish a particular objective, such as the closing of an important merger, or a pill that contains what Glass Lewis believes to be a reasonable qualifying offer clause.

# Compensation, Environmental, Social and Governance Shareholder Initiatives

Glass Lewis typically prefers to leave decisions regarding day-to-day management and policy decisions, including those related to social, environmental or political issues, to management and the board, except when there is a clear link between the proposal and value enhancement or risk mitigation. Glass Lewis feels strongly that shareholders should not attempt to micromanage the company, its businesses or its executives through the shareholder initiative process. Rather, Glass Lewis believes shareholders should use their influence to push for governance structures that protect shareholders and promote director accountability. Shareholders should then put in place a board they can trust to make informed decisions that are in the best interests of the business and its owners, and then hold directors accountable for management and policy decisions through board elections. However, Glass Lewis recognizes that support of appropriately crafted shareholder initiatives may at times serve to promote or protect shareholder value.

To this end, Glass Lewis evaluates shareholder proposals on a case-by-case basis. Glass Lewis generally recommends supporting shareholder proposals calling for the elimination of, as well as to require shareholder approval of, antitakeover devices such as poison pills and classified boards. Glass Lewis generally recommends supporting proposals likely to increase and/or protect shareholder value and also those that promote the furtherance of shareholder rights. In addition, Glass Lewis also generally recommends supporting proposals that promote director accountability and those that seek to improve compensation practices, especially those promoting a closer link between compensation and performance.

### **International Guidelines**

### Election of Directors

Boards are put in place to represent shareholders and protect their interests. Glass Lewis seeks boards with a proven record of protecting shareholders and delivering value over the medium-and long-term. In Glass Lewis's view, boards working to protect and enhance the best interests of shareholders typically include some independent directors (the percentage will vary by local market practice and regulations), boast a record of positive performance, have directors with diverse backgrounds, and appoint directors with a breadth and depth of experience.

# Financial Reporting

Many countries require companies to submit the annual financial statements, director reports and independent auditors' reports to shareholders at a general meeting. Shareholder approval of such a proposal does not discharge the board or management. Glass Lewis will usually recommend voting in favor of these proposals except when there are concerns about the integrity of the statements/reports. However, should the audited financial statements, auditor's report and/or annual report not be published at the writing of its report, Glass Lewis will recommend that shareholders abstain from voting on this proposal.

In many countries, companies must submit the allocation of income for shareholder approval. Glass Lewis will generally recommend voting for such a proposal. However, Glass Lewis will give particular scrutiny to cases where the company's dividend payout ratio is exceptionally low or excessively high relative to its peers and the company has not provided a satisfactory explanation.

Glass Lewis generally supports management's recommendation regarding the selection of an auditor and support granting the board the authority to fix auditor fees except in cases where Glass Lewis believes the independence of an incumbent auditor or the integrity of the audit has been compromised.

# Compensation

Glass Lewis closely reviews companies' remuneration practices and disclosure as outlined in company filings to evaluate management-submitted advisory compensation report and policy vote proposals. In evaluating these proposals, which can be binding or non-binding depending on the country, Glass Lewis examines how well the company has disclosed information pertinent to its compensation programs, the extent to which overall compensation is tied to performance, the performance metrics selected by the company and the levels of remuneration in comparison to company performance and that of its peers.

#### Governance Structure

Glass Lewis will evaluate proposed amendments to a company's articles of association on a case-by-case basis. Glass Lewis is opposed to the practice of bundling several amendments under a single proposal because it prevents shareholders from evaluating each amendment on its own merits. In such cases, Glass Lewis will analyze each change individually and will recommend voting for the proposal only when Glass Lewis believes that the amendments on balance are in the best interests of shareholders.

Glass Lewis believes that poison pill plans generally are not in the best interests of shareholders. Specifically, they can reduce management accountability by substantially limiting opportunities for corporate takeovers. Rights plans can thus prevent shareholders from receiving a buy-out premium for their stock. In certain limited circumstances, Glass Lewis will support a limited poison pill to accomplish a particular objective, such as the closing of an important merger, or a pill that contains what it believes to be a reasonable 'qualifying offer' clause.

# Environmental and Social Risk

Glass Lewis believes companies should actively evaluate risks to long-term shareholder value stemming from exposure to environmental and social risks and should incorporate this information into their overall business risk profile. In addition, Glass Lewis believes companies should consider their exposure to changes in environmental or social regulation with respect to their operations as well as related legal and reputational risks. Companies should disclose to shareholders both the nature and magnitude of such risks as well as steps they have taken or will take to mitigate those risks.

When Glass Lewis identifies situations where shareholder value is at risk, it may recommend voting in favor of a reasonable and well-targeted shareholder proposal if it believes supporting the proposal will promote disclosure of and/or mitigate significant risk exposure. In limited cases where a company has failed to adequately mitigate risks stemming from environmental or social practices, Glass Lewis will recommend shareholders vote against: (i) ratification of board and/or management acts; (ii) approving a company's accounts and reports; and/or (iii) directors (in egregious cases).

### **Continental Europe Guidelines**

### Election of Directors

When companies disclose sufficient relevant information, Glass Lewis looks at each individual on the board and examine his or her relationships with the company, the company's executives and with other board members. The purpose of this inquiry is to determine whether pre-existing personal, familial or financial relationships are likely to impact the decisions of that board member. Where the company does not disclose the names and backgrounds of director nominees with sufficient time in advance of the shareholder meeting to evaluate their independence and performance, Glass Lewis will consider recommending abstaining on the directors' election.

### Financial Reporting

As a routine matter, shareholders in European companies are either asked to approve a company's accounts and reports or to acknowledge receipt of the accounts and reports, which have already been approved by the board and management. A company's consolidated financial statements combine the activities of the company with the activities of its subsidiaries. Some companies may seek separate approval of the consolidated and standalone accounts and reports. Unless there are concerns about the integrity of the financial statements or reports, Glass Lewis will recommend voting for these proposals. Glass Lewis will generally recommend voting for proposals seeking to acknowledge the receipt of a company's accounts and reports provided they are available to shareholders. However, in the event that the audited financial statements have not been made available, Glass Lewis does not believe shareholders have sufficient information to make an informed judgment regarding these matters. As such, Glass Lewis will recommend that shareholders abstain from voting on the relevant agenda items.

In many European markets, companies must submit the allocation of annual profits or losses for shareholder approval. Glass Lewis will generally recommend voting for such a proposal. With respect to dividends, Glass Lewis generally supports the board's proposed dividend (or the absence thereof). However, Glass Lewis will give particular scrutiny to cases where a company's dividend payout ratio, based on consolidated earnings, has decreased to an exceptionally low level (*i.e.*, less than 10%) from a more reasonable payout ratio (*i.e.*, over 10%), or where a company has eliminated dividend payments altogether without explanation. Glass Lewis will also scrutinize dividend payouts that are consistently excessively high relative to peers (*i.e.*, over 100%) without satisfactory explanation. In most cases, Glass Lewis believes the board is in the best position to determine whether a company has sufficient resources to distribute a dividend to shareholders. As such, Glass Lewis will only recommend that shareholders refrain from supporting dividend proposals in exceptional cases.

# Executive Compensation

Glass Lewis carefully reviews the compensation awarded to senior executives, as it believes that this is an important area in which the board's priorities are revealed. Glass Lewis strongly believes executive compensation should be linked directly with the performance of the business the executive is charged with managing. Glass Lewis typically looks for compensation arrangements that provide for a mix of performance-based short- and long-term incentives in addition to base salary.

Glass Lewis believes that comprehensive, timely and transparent disclosure of executive pay is critical to allowing shareholders to evaluate the extent to which the pay is keeping pace with company performance. When reviewing proxy materials, Glass Lewis examines whether the company discloses the performance metrics used to determine executive compensation. Glass Lewis recognizes performance metrics must necessarily vary depending on the company and industry, among other factors, and may include items such as total shareholder return, earning per share growth, return on equity, return on assets and revenue growth. However, Glass Lewis believes companies should disclose why the specific performance metrics were selected and how the actions they are designed to incentivize will lead to better corporate performance.

Moreover, Glass Lewis believes it is rarely in shareholders' interests to disclose competitive data about individual salaries below the senior executive level. Such disclosure could create internal personnel discord that would be counterproductive for the company and its shareholders. While Glass Lewis favors full disclosure for senior executives and it views pay disclosure at the aggregate level (e.g., the number of employees being paid over a certain amount or in certain categories) as potentially useful, it does not believe shareholders need or will benefit from detailed reports about individual management employees other than the most senior executives.

#### Governance Structure

Glass Lewis will evaluate proposed amendments to a company's articles of association on a case-by-case basis. Glass Lewis is opposed to the practice of bundling several amendments under a single proposal because it prevents shareholders from reviewing each amendment on its own merit. In such cases, Glass Lewis will analyze each change on its own. Glass Lewis will recommend voting for the proposal only when, on balance, it believes that the amendments are in the best interests of shareholders. In Europe, it is common for proposed technical amendments to a company's articles of association, resulting from changes to corporate law or necessary changes to the wording of an article without changing the meaning of the article, to be bundled together under a single proposal. In such cases, Glass Lewis will recommend voting for the proposal.

Shareholder ratification of board, management and/or auditors' acts during the previous fiscal year is required in many European markets. The legal consequences of the ratification vary by market, and Glass Lewis's analysis and recommendations take this into account. Glass Lewis will evaluate each proposal on a case-by-case basis. Unless there are any concerns about the integrity and performance of the individuals being ratified, Glass Lewis will generally recommend voting for this proposal. Glass Lewis may recommend voting against or abstaining from voting on a ratification proposal under the following conditions: (i) members of the board, management or auditing firm have been accused or convicted of fraud or other illegal activities that may be damaging to shareholders' interests; (ii) the report of the independent auditor notes a material weakness, serious restatement, or failure to comply with accounting norms; (iii) the board has consistently failed to address pressing shareholder concerns; or (iv) other exceptional cases in which the board has clearly failed to protect shareholders' interests. In addition, when Glass Lewis has serious concerns regarding the actions of the board and no members of the board are up for election, Glass Lewis is more likely to recommend voting against the ratification of board acts.

# Capital Management

Glass Lewis believes that adequate capital stock is important to a company's operation. European companies are authorized to increase share capital through several methods, which may or may not involve the issuance of shares.

In general, issuing an excessive amount of additional shares and/or convertible securities can dilute existing holders. Further, the availability of additional shares, where the board has discretion to implement a poison pill, can often serve as a deterrent to interested suitors. Accordingly, where Glass Lewis finds that the company has not detailed a plan for use of the proposed shares, or where the number of shares far exceeds those needed to accomplish a detailed plan, Glass Lewis typically recommends against the authorization of additional shares.

# Shareholder Initiatives

Glass Lewis evaluates shareholder proposals on a case-by-case basis. Glass Lewis generally favor appropriately-crafted proposals that are likely to increase shareholder value and/or promote and protect shareholder rights. Glass Lewis typically prefers to leave decisions regarding day-to-day management of the business and policy decisions related to political, social or environmental issues to management and the board except when Glass Lewis sees a clear and direct link between the proposal and some economic or financial issue for the company. Glass Lewis feels strongly that shareholders should not attempt to micromanage the business or its executives through the initiative process. Rather, shareholders should use their influence to push for governance structures that protect shareholders, including actual director elections and then put in place a board they can trust to make informed and careful decisions that are in the best interests of the business and its owners. Glass Lewis believe that shareholders should hold directors accountable for management and policy decisions through the election of directors.

### APPENDIX B

### DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES RATINGS

# **Short-Term Credit Ratings**

- An S&P Global Ratings short-term issue credit rating is generally assigned to those obligations considered short-term in the relevant market. The following summarizes the rating categories used by S&P Global Ratings for short-term issues:
- "A-1" A short-term obligation rated "A-1" is rated in the highest category by S&P Global Ratings. The obligor's capacity to meet its financial commitments on the obligation is strong. Within this category, certain obligations are designated with a plus sign (+). This indicates that the obligor's capacity to meet its financial commitment on these obligations is extremely strong.
- "A-2" A short-term obligation rated "A-2" is somewhat more susceptible to the adverse effects of changes in circumstances and economic conditions than obligations in higher rating categories. However, the obligor's capacity to meet its financial commitments on the obligation is satisfactory.
- "A-3" A short-term obligation rated "A-3" exhibits adequate protection parameters. However, adverse economic conditions or changing circumstances are more likely to weaken an obligor's capacity to meet its financial commitments on the obligation.
- "B" A short-term obligation rated "B" is regarded as vulnerable and has significant speculative characteristics. The obligor currently has the capacity to meet its financial commitments; however, it faces major ongoing uncertainties that could lead to the obligor's inadequate capacity to meet its financial commitments.
- "C" A short-term obligation rated "C" is currently vulnerable to nonpayment and is dependent upon favorable business, financial, and economic conditions for the obligor to meet its financial commitments on the obligation.
- "D" A short-term obligation rated "D" is in default or in breach of an imputed promise. For non-hybrid capital instruments, the "D" rating category is used when payments on an obligation are not made on the date due, unless S&P Global Ratings believes that such payments will be made within any stated grace period. However, any stated grace period longer than five business days will be treated as five business days. The "D" rating also will be used upon the filing of a bankruptcy petition or the taking of a similar action and where default on an obligation is a virtual certainty, for example due to automatic stay provisions. A rating on an obligation is lowered to "D" if it is subject to a distressed debt restructuring.

Local Currency and Foreign Currency Ratings – S&P Global Ratings' issuer credit ratings make a distinction between foreign currency ratings and local currency ratings. A foreign currency rating on an issuer can differ from the local currency rating on it when the obligor has a different capacity to meet its obligations denominated in its local currency, versus obligations denominated in a foreign currency.

- "NR" This indicates that a rating has not been assigned or is no longer assigned.
- Moody's Investors Service ("Moody's") short-term ratings are forward-looking opinions of the relative credit risks of financial obligations with an original maturity of thirteen months or less and reflect both on the likelihood of a default or impairment on contractual financial obligations and the expected financial loss suffered in the event of default or impairment.

Moody's employs the following designations to indicate the relative repayment ability of rated issuers:

- "P-1" Issuers (or supporting institutions) rated Prime-1 reflect a superior ability to repay short-term obligations.
- "P-2" Issuers (or supporting institutions) rated Prime-2 reflect a strong ability to repay short-term obligations.
- "P-3" Issuers (or supporting institutions) rated Prime-3 reflect an acceptable ability to repay short-term obligations.
- "NP" Issuers (or supporting institutions) rated Not Prime do not fall within any of the Prime rating categories.
- "NR" Is assigned to an unrated issuer, obligation and/or program.
- Fitch, Inc. / Fitch Ratings Ltd. ("Fitch") short-term issuer or obligation rating is based in all cases on the short-term vulnerability to default of the rated entity and relates to the capacity to meet financial obligations in accordance with the documentation governing the relevant obligation. Short-term deposit ratings may be adjusted for loss severity. Short-term ratings are assigned to obligations whose initial maturity is viewed as "short-term" based on market convention. Typically, this means up to 13 months for corporate, sovereign, and structured obligations and up to 36 months for obligations in U.S. public finance markets. The following summarizes the rating categories used by Fitch for short-term obligations:
- "F1" Securities possess the highest short-term credit quality. This designation indicates the strongest intrinsic capacity for timely payment of financial commitments; may have an added "+" to denote any exceptionally strong credit feature.
  - "F2" Securities possess good short-term credit quality. This designation indicates good intrinsic capacity for timely payment of financial commitments.
- "F3" Securities possess fair short-term credit quality. This designation indicates that the intrinsic capacity for timely payment of financial commitments is adequate.
- "B" Securities possess speculative short-term credit quality. This designation indicates minimal capacity for timely payment of financial commitments, plus heightened vulnerability to near term adverse changes in financial and economic conditions.
  - "C" Securities possess high short-term default risk. Default is a real possibility.
- "RD" Restricted default. Indicates an entity that has defaulted on one or more of its financial commitments, although it continues to meet other financial obligations. Typically applicable to entity ratings only.
  - "D" Default. Indicates a broad-based default event for an entity, or the default of a short-term obligation.
  - "NR" Is assigned to an issue of a rated issuer that are not and have not been rated.
- The *DBRS Morningstar® Ratings Limited ("DBRS Morningstar"*) short-term obligation ratings provide DBRS Morningstar's opinion on the risk that an issuer will not meet its short-term financial obligations in a timely manner. The obligations rated in this category typically have a term of shorter than one year. The R-1 and R-2 rating categories are further denoted by the subcategories "(high)", "(middle)", and "(low)".

A long-term rating can also be used to rate an issue with short maturity.

The following summarizes the ratings used by DBRS Morningstar for commercial paper and short-term debt:

- "R-1 (high)" Short-term debt rated "R-1 (high)" is of the highest credit quality. The capacity for the payment of short-term financial obligations as they fall due is exceptionally high. Unlikely to be adversely affected by future events.
- "R-1 (middle)" Short-term debt rated "R-1 (middle)" is of superior credit quality. The capacity for the payment of short-term financial obligations as they fall due is very high. Differs from "R-1 (high)" by a relatively modest degree. Unlikely to be significantly vulnerable to future events.
- "R-1 (low)" Short-term debt rated "R-1 (low)" is of good credit quality. The capacity for the payment of short-term financial obligations as they fall due is substantial. Overall strength is not as favorable as higher rating categories. May be vulnerable to future events, but qualifying negative factors are considered manageable.
- "R-2 (high)" Short-term debt rated "R-2 (high)" is considered to be at the upper end of adequate credit quality. The capacity for the payment of short-term financial obligations as they fall due is acceptable. May be vulnerable to future events.
- "R-2 (middle)" Short-term debt rated "R-2 (middle)" is considered to be of adequate credit quality. The capacity for the payment of short-term financial obligations as they fall due is acceptable. May be vulnerable to future events or may be exposed to other factors that could reduce credit quality.
- "R-2 (low)" Short-term debt rated "R-2 (low)" is considered to be at the lower end of adequate credit quality. The capacity for the payment of short-term financial obligations as they fall due is acceptable. May be vulnerable to future events. A number of challenges are present that could affect the issuer's ability to meet such obligations.
- "R-3" Short-term debt rated "R-3" is considered to be at the lowest end of adequate credit quality. There is a capacity for the payment of short-term financial obligations as they fall due. May be vulnerable to future events and the certainty of meeting such obligations could be impacted by a variety of developments.
- "R-4" Short-term debt rated "R-4" is considered to be of speculative credit quality. The capacity for the payment of short-term financial obligations as they fall due is uncertain.
- "R-5" Short-term debt rated "R-5" is considered to be of highly speculative credit quality. There is a high level of uncertainty as to the capacity to meet short-term financial obligations as they fall due.
- "D" Short-term debt rated "D" is assigned when the issuer has filed under any applicable bankruptcy, insolvency or winding-up statute or there is a failure to satisfy an obligation after the exhaustion of grace periods. DBRS Morningstar may also use "SD" (Selective Default) in cases where only some securities are impacted, such as the case of a "distressed exchange".

# **Long-Term Issue Credit Ratings**

The following summarizes the ratings used by  $\it S\&P~Global~Ratings$  for long-term issues:

- "AAA" An obligation rated "AAA" has the highest rating assigned by S&P Global Ratings. The obligor's capacity to meet its financial commitments on the obligation is extremely strong.
- "AA" An obligation rated "AA" differs from the highest-rated obligations only to a small degree. The obligor's capacity to meet its financial commitments on the obligation is very strong.

- "A" An obligation rated "A" is somewhat more susceptible to the adverse effects of changes in circumstances and economic conditions than obligations in higher-rated categories. However, the obligor's capacity to meet its financial commitments on the obligation is still strong.
- "BBB" An obligation rated "BBB" exhibits adequate protection parameters. However, adverse economic conditions or changing circumstances are more likely to weaken the obligor's capacity to meet its financial commitments on the obligation.
- "BB," "CCC," "CC" and "C" Obligations rated "BB," "B," "CCC," "CC" and "C" are regarded as having significant speculative characteristics. "BB" indicates the least degree of speculation and "C" the highest. While such obligations will likely have some quality and protective characteristics, these may be outweighed by large uncertainties or major exposure to adverse conditions.
- "BB" An obligation rated "BB" is less vulnerable to nonpayment than other speculative issues. However, it faces major ongoing uncertainties or exposure to adverse business, financial, or economic conditions that could lead to the obligor's inadequate capacity to meet its financial commitments on the obligation.
- "B" An obligation rated "B" is more vulnerable to nonpayment than obligations rated "BB", but the obligor currently has the capacity to meet its financial commitments on the obligation. Adverse business, financial, or economic conditions will likely impair the obligor's capacity or willingness to meet its financial commitments on the obligation.
- "CCC" An obligation rated "CCC" is currently vulnerable to nonpayment and is dependent upon favorable business, financial, and economic conditions for the obligor to meet its financial commitments on the obligation. In the event of adverse business, financial, or economic conditions, the obligor is not likely to have the capacity to meet its financial commitments on the obligation.
- "CC" An obligation rated "CC" is currently highly vulnerable to nonpayment. The "CC" rating is used when a default has not yet occurred but S&P Global Ratings expects default to be a virtual certainty, regardless of the anticipated time to default.
- "C" An obligation rated "C" is currently highly vulnerable to nonpayment, and the obligation is expected to have lower relative seniority or lower ultimate recovery compared with obligations that are rated higher.
- "D" An obligation rated "D" is in default or in breach of an imputed promise. For non-hybrid capital instruments, the "D" rating category is used when payments on an obligation are not made on the date due, unless S&P Global Ratings believes that such payments will be made within the next five business days in the absence of a stated grace period or within the earlier of the stated grace period or the next 30 calendar days. The "D" rating also will be used upon the filing of a bankruptcy petition or the taking of similar action and where default on an obligation is a virtual certainty, for example due to automatic stay provisions. A rating on an obligation is lowered to "D" if it is subject to a distressed debt restructuring
- Plus (+) or minus (-) Ratings from "AA" to "CCC" may be modified by the addition of a plus (+) or minus (-) sign to show relative standing within the rating categories.
  - "NR" This indicates that a rating has not been assigned, or is no longer assigned.

Local Currency and Foreign Currency Ratings - S&P Global Ratings' issuer credit ratings make a distinction between foreign currency ratings and local currency ratings. A foreign currency rating on an issuer can differ from the local currency rating on it when the obligor has a different capacity to meet its obligations denominated in its local currency, versus obligations denominated in a foreign currency.

*Moody's* long-term ratings are forward-looking opinions of the relative credit risks of financial obligations with an original maturity of eleven months or more. Such ratings reflect both on the likelihood of default or impairment on contractual financial obligations and the expected financial loss suffered in the event of default or impairment. The following summarizes the ratings used by Moody's for long-term debt:

- "Aaa" Obligations rated "Aaa" are judged to be of the highest quality, subject to the lowest level of credit risk.
- "Aa" Obligations rated "Aa" are judged to be of high quality and are subject to very low credit risk.
- "A" Obligations rated "A" are judged to be upper-medium grade and are subject to low credit risk.
- "Baa" Obligations rated "Baa" are judged to be medium-grade and subject to moderate credit risk and as such may possess certain speculative characteristics.
- "Ba" Obligations rated "Ba" are judged to be speculative and are subject to substantial credit risk.
- "B" Obligations rated "B" are considered speculative and are subject to high credit risk.
- "Caa" Obligations rated "Caa" are judged to be speculative of poor standing and are subject to very high credit risk.
- "Ca" Obligations rated "Ca" are highly speculative and are likely in, or very near, default, with some prospect of recovery of principal and interest.
- "C" Obligations rated "C" are the lowest rated and are typically in default, with little prospect for recovery of principal or interest.

Note: Moody's appends numerical modifiers 1, 2, and 3 to each generic rating classification from "Aa" through "Caa." The modifier 1 indicates that the obligation ranks in the higher end of its generic rating category; the modifier 2 indicates a mid-range ranking; and the modifier 3 indicates a ranking in the lower end of that generic rating category.

"NR" - Is assigned to unrated obligations, obligation and/or program.

The following summarizes long-term ratings used by *Fitch*:

- "AAA" Securities considered to be of the highest credit quality. "AAA" ratings denote the lowest expectation of credit risk. They are assigned only in cases of exceptionally strong capacity for payment of financial commitments. This capacity is highly unlikely to be adversely affected by foreseeable events.
- "AA" Securities considered to be of very high credit quality. "AA" ratings denote expectations of very low credit risk. They indicate very strong capacity for payment of financial commitments. This capacity is not significantly vulnerable to foreseeable events.
- "A" Securities considered to be of high credit quality. "A" ratings denote expectations of low credit risk. The capacity for payment of financial commitments is considered strong. This capacity may, nevertheless, be more vulnerable to adverse business or economic conditions than is the case for higher ratings.
- "BBB" Securities considered to be of good credit quality. "BBB" ratings indicate that expectations of credit risk are currently low. The capacity for payment of financial commitments is considered adequate, but adverse business or economic conditions are more likely to impair this capacity.
- "BB" Securities considered to be speculative. "BB" ratings indicate an elevated vulnerability to credit risk, particularly in the event of adverse changes in business or economic conditions over time; however, business or financial alternatives may be available to allow financial commitments to be met.
  - "B" Securities considered to be highly speculative. "B" ratings indicate that material credit risk is present

- "CCC" A "CCC" rating indicates that substantial credit risk is present.
- "CC" A "CC" rating indicates very high levels of credit risk.
- "C" A "C" rating indicates exceptionally high levels of credit risk.

Defaulted obligations typically are not assigned "RD" or "D" ratings but are instead rated in the "CCC" to "C" rating categories, depending on their recovery prospects and other relevant characteristics. Fitch believes that this approach better aligns obligations that have comparable overall expected loss but varying vulnerability to default and loss.

- Plus (+) or minus (-) may be appended to a rating to denote relative status within major rating categories. Such suffixes are not added to the "AAA" obligation rating category, or to corporate finance obligation ratings in the categories below "CCC".
  - "NR" Is assigned to an unrated issue of a rated issuer.
- The *DBRS* Morningstar long-term obligation ratings provide DBRS Morningstar's opinion on the risk that investors may not be repaid in accordance with the terms under which the long-term obligation was issued. The obligations rated in this category typically have a term of one year or longer. All rating categories other than AAA and D also contain subcategories "(high)" and "(low)". The absence of either a "(high)" or "(low)" designation indicates the rating is in the middle of the category. The following summarizes the ratings used by DBRS Morningstar for long-term debt:
- "AAA" Long-term debt rated "AAA" is of the highest credit quality. The capacity for the payment of financial obligations is exceptionally high and unlikely to be adversely affected by future events.
- "AA" Long-term debt rated "AA" is of superior credit quality. The capacity for the payment of financial obligations is considered high. Credit quality differs from "AAA" only to a small degree. Unlikely to be significantly vulnerable to future events.
- "A" Long-term debt rated "A" is of good credit quality. The capacity for the payment of financial obligations is substantial, but of lesser credit quality than "AA." May be vulnerable to future events, but qualifying negative factors are considered manageable.
- "BBB" Long-term debt rated "BBB" is of adequate credit quality. The capacity for the payment of financial obligations is considered acceptable. May be vulnerable to future events.
- "BB" Long-term debt rated "BB" is of speculative, non-investment grade credit quality. The capacity for the payment of financial obligations is uncertain. Vulnerable to future events.
  - "B" Long-term debt rated "B" is of highly speculative credit quality. There is a high level of uncertainty as to the capacity to meet financial obligations.
- "CCC", "CC" and "C" Long-term debt rated in any of these categories is of very highly speculative credit quality. In danger of defaulting on financial obligations. There is little difference between these three categories, although "CC" and "C" ratings are normally applied to obligations that are seen as highly likely to default or subordinated to obligations rated in the "CCC" to "B" range. Obligations in respect of which default has not technically taken place but is considered inevitable may be rated in the "C" category.
- "D" A security rated "D" is assigned when the issuer has filed under any applicable bankruptcy, insolvency or winding up statute or there is a failure to satisfy an obligation after the exhaustion of grace periods. DBRS Morningstar may also use "SD" (Selective Default) in cases where only some securities are impacted, such as the case of a "distressed exchange".

# **Municipal Note Ratings**

An *S&P Global Ratings* U.S. municipal note rating reflects S&P Global Ratings' opinion about the liquidity factors and market access risks unique to the notes. Notes due in three years or less will likely receive a note rating. Notes with an original maturity of more than three years will most likely receive a long-term debt rating. In determining which type of rating, if any, to assign, S&P Global Ratings' analysis will review the following considerations:

- Amortization schedule the larger the final maturity relative to other maturities, the more likely it will be treated as a note; and
- Source of payment the more dependent the issue is on the market for its refinancing, the more likely it will be treated as a note.

Municipal Short-Term Note rating symbols are as follows:

- "SP-1" A municipal note rated "SP-1" exhibits a strong capacity to pay principal and interest. An issue determined to possess a very strong capacity to pay debt service is given a plus (+) designation.
- "SP-2" A municipal note rated "SP-2" exhibits a satisfactory capacity to pay principal and interest, with some vulnerability to adverse financial and economic changes over the term of the notes.
  - "SP-3" A municipal note rated "SP-3" exhibits a speculative capacity to pay principal and interest.
- "D" This rating is assigned upon failure to pay the note when due, completion of a distressed debt restructuring, or the filing of a bankruptcy petition or the taking of similar action and where default on an obligation is a virtual certainty, for example due to automatic stay provisions.
- *Moody's* uses the global short-term Prime rating scale (listed above under Short-Term Credit Ratings) for commercial paper issued by U.S. municipalities and nonprofits. These commercial paper programs may be backed by external letters of credit or liquidity facilities, or by an issuer's self-liquidity.

For other short-term municipal obligations, Moody's uses one of two other short-term rating scales, the Municipal Investment Grade ("MIG") and Variable Municipal Investment Grade ("VMIG") scales provided below.

Moody's uses the MIG scale for U.S. municipal cash flow notes, bond anticipation notes and certain other short-term obligations, which typically mature in three years or less. Under certain circumstances, Moody's uses the MIG scale for bond anticipation notes with maturities of up to five years.

MIG Scale

- "MIG-1" This designation denotes superior credit quality. Excellent protection is afforded by established cash flows, highly reliable liquidity support, or demonstrated broad-based access to the market for refinancing.
  - "MIG-2" This designation denotes strong credit quality. Margins of protection are ample, although not as large as in the preceding group.
- "MIG-3" This designation denotes acceptable credit quality. Liquidity and cash-flow protection may be narrow, and market access for refinancing is likely to be less well-established.

- "SG" This designation denotes speculative-grade credit quality. Debt instruments in this category may lack sufficient margins of protection.
- "NR" Is assigned to an unrated obligation, obligation and/or program.

In the case of variable rate demand obligations ("VRDOs"), Moody's assigns both a long-term rating and a short-term payment obligation rating. The long-term rating addresses the issuer's ability to meet scheduled principal and interest payments. The short-term payment obligation rating addresses the ability of the issuer or the liquidity provider to meet any purchase price payment obligation resulting from optional tenders ("on demand") and/or mandatory tenders of the VRDO. The short-term payment obligation rating uses the VMIG scale. Transitions of VMIG ratings with conditional liquidity support differ from transitions of Prime ratings reflecting the risk that external liquidity support will terminate if the issuer's long-term rating drops below investment grade.

Moody's typically assigns the VMIG rating if the frequency of the payment obligation is less than every three years. If the frequency of the payment obligation is less than three years but the obligation is payable only with remarketing proceeds, the VMIG short-term rating is not assigned and it is denoted as "NR".

- "VMIG-1" This designation denotes superior credit quality. Excellent protection is afforded by the superior short-term credit strength of the liquidity provider and structural and legal protections.
- "VMIG-2" This designation denotes strong credit quality. Good protection is afforded by the strong short-term credit strength of the liquidity provider and structural and legal protections.
- "VMIG-3" This designation denotes acceptable credit quality. Adequate protection is afforded by the satisfactory short-term credit strength of the liquidity provider and structural and legal protections.
- "SG" This designation denotes speculative-grade credit quality. Demand features rated in this category may be supported by a liquidity provider that does not have a sufficiently strong short-term rating or may lack the structural and/or legal protections.
  - "NR" Is assigned to an unrated obligation, obligation and/or program.

# **About Credit Ratings**

An **S&P Global Ratings** issue credit rating is a forward-looking opinion about the creditworthiness of an obligor with respect to a specific financial obligation, a specific class of financial obligations, or a specific financial program (including ratings on medium-term note programs and commercial paper programs). It takes into consideration the creditworthiness of guarantors, insurers, or other forms of credit enhancement on the obligation and takes into account the currency in which the obligation is denominated. The opinion reflects S&P Global Ratings' view of the obligor's capacity and willingness to meet its financial commitments as they come due, and this opinion may assess terms, such as collateral security and subordination, which could affect ultimate payment in the event of default.

Ratings assigned on *Moody's* global long-term and short-term rating scales are forward-looking opinions of the relative credit risks of financial obligations issued by non-financial corporates, financial institutions, structured finance vehicles, project finance vehicles, and public sector entities.

Fitch's credit ratings are forward-looking opinions on the relative ability of an entity or obligation to meet financial commitments. Issuer Default Ratings (IDRs) are assigned to corporations, sovereign entities, financial institutions such as banks, leasing companies and insurers, and public finance entities (local and regional governments). Issue-level ratings are also assigned and often include an expectation of recovery, which may be notched above or below the issuer-level rating. Issue ratings are assigned to secured and unsecured debt securities, loans, preferred stock and other instruments. Credit ratings are indications of the likelihood of repayment in accordance with the terms of the issuance. In limited cases, Fitch may include additional considerations (i.e., rate to a higher or lower standard than that implied in the obligation's documentation).

DBRS Morningstar offers independent, transparent, and innovative credit analysis to the market. Credit ratings are forward-looking opinions about credit risk that reflect the creditworthiness of an issuer, rated entity, security and/or obligation based on DBRS Morningstar's quantitative and qualitative analysis in accordance with applicable methodologies and criteria. They are meant to provide opinions on relative measures of risk and are not based on expectations of, or meant to predict, any specific default probability. Credit ratings are not statements of fact. DBRS Morningstar issues credit ratings using one or more categories, such as public, private, provisional, final(ized), solicited, or unsolicited. From time to time, credit ratings may also be subject to trends, placed under review, or discontinued. DBRS Morningstar credit ratings are determined by credit rating committees.